SOTHEBYS Form 10-Q November 09, 2007

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

## QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2007

Commission File Number 1-9750

		Sotheby s		
		(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	<del></del>	
	Delaware	<u>_</u>	38-2478409	
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)	
1334 York A New York, N			10021	
` .	orincipal executive offices) telephone number, including area co	de: (212) 606-7000	(Zip Code	*)
•	٠	has filed all reports required to be filed by Secti ich shorter period that the registrant was require	* *	_

Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o

to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act) Yes o No x

As of October 31, 2007, there were 66,548,053 outstanding shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.10 per share, of the registrant.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
<u>PART I:</u>	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements (UNAUDITED):	
	Condensed Consolidated Income Statements for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006	3
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006	5
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	6
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	27
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	46
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	46
PART II:	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	47
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	47
Item 6.	Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K	49
SIGNATURE		50
EXHIBIT INDEX		51

## SOTHEBY S CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

	Three Mo	nths Ended	Nine Months Ended			
	September 30, 2007	September 30, 2006	September 30, 2007	September 30, 2006		
Revenues:						
Auction and related revenues	\$ 66,359	\$ 50,830	\$ 509,653	\$ 383,200		
Finance revenues	4,029	4,347	13,028	11,329		
Dealer revenues	13,442	920	45,784	3,785		
License fee revenues	920	961	2,323	2,153		
Other revenues	308	322	1,177	1,227		
Total revenues	85,058	57,380	571,965	401,694		
Expenses:						
Direct costs of services	11,255	9,793	58,721	45,904		
Dealer cost of sales	8,594	567	34,126	567		
Salaries and related costs	55,229	45,709	195,122	160,051		
General and administrative expenses	40,492	34,162	123,282	97,370		
Depreciation and amortization expense	5,500	5,372	16,295	16,035		
Impairment loss	2,200	0,072	14,979	10,000		
Gain on sale of land and buildings			(4,752)			
Total expenses	121,070	95,603	437,773	319,927		
Operating (loss) income	(36,012)	(38,223)	134,192	81,767		
	2 7 10		40.544			
Interest income	3,549	1,165	10,244	2,793		
Interest expense	(6,812)	(8,151)	(21,480)	(25,051)		
Insurance recovery			20,000	(2.044)		
Other income (expense)	666	(1,471)	2,397	(2,041)		
(Loss) income from continuing operations before taxes	(38,609)	(46,680)	145,353	57,468		
Equity in earnings of investees, net of taxes	640	151	2,389	660		
Income tax (benefit) expense	(17,021)	(16,104)	37,007	20,110		
(Loss) income from continuing operations	(20,948)	(30,425)	110,735	38,018		
Discontinued operations:						
Loss from discontinued operations before taxes		(475)		(1,961)		
Income tax benefit		(173)		(687)		
Loss from discontinued operations		(302)		(1,274)		
Net (loss) income	(\$ 20,948)	(\$ 30,727)	\$ 110,735	\$ 36,744		
•	, -,	, ,	,	, 		

Basic (loss) earnings per share:							
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations	(\$	0.33)	(\$	0.49)	\$	1.74	\$ 0.64
Loss from discontinued operations		0.00		0.00		0.00	(0.02)
Basic (loss) earnings per share	(\$	0.33)	(\$	0.50)	\$	1.74	\$ 0.62
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:							
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations	(\$	0.33)	(\$	0.49)	\$	1.69	\$ 0.62
Loss from discontinued operations		0.00		0.00		0.00	(0.02)
Diluted (loss) earnings per share	(\$	0.33)	(\$	0.50)	\$	1.69	\$ 0.60
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding:							
Basic		63,974		61,780		63,627	59,564
Diluted		63,974		61,780		65,461	61,367
Cash dividends paid per common share	\$	0.15	\$	0.10	\$	0.35	\$ 0.10
See accompanying Notes to Co	ondense	d Consolida	ted Fir	nancial Stat	temen	its	

# SOTHEBY S CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED) (Thousands of dollars)

	_	September 30, 2007		•		- ·		September 30, 2006	
ASSETS									
Current Assets:									
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	121,107	\$	221,094	\$	39,106			
Restricted cash		5,985		11,356		4,812			
Short-term investments				126,042					
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$5,824, \$5,935									
and \$6,065		311,537		390,061		194,307			
Notes receivable and consignor advances, net of allowance for credit losses of									
\$1,051, \$1,154 and \$1,182		162,209		152,070		132,883			
Inventory		186,722		115,955		115,426			
Deferred income taxes		8,244		6,984		28,635			
Income tax receivable		957				1,400			
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		26,579		24,265		60,921			
Total Current Assets	:	823,340		1,047,827		577,490			
				_					
Non-Current Assets:									
Notes receivable		60,026		56,474		57,597			
Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of \$174,258,									
\$158,718 and \$151,076		222,902		226,522		223,458			
Goodwill		27,211		34,709		50,921			
Intangible assets		5,954		12,780					
Investments		21,368		23,107		23,880			
Deferred income taxes		84,873		67,784		46,953			
Trust assets related to deferred compensation liability		31,382							
Other assets		45,590		7,962		8,194			
Total Assets	\$ 1,	322,646	\$	1,477,165	\$	988,493			
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY									
Current Liabilities:									
Due to consignors	\$ 2	266,940	\$	558,250	\$	164,454			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		143,281		152,685		117,480			
Settlement liabilities		24,374		45,765		45,699			
Accrued income taxes		28,903		19,856		15,019			
Deferred income taxes		2,286		2,286		84			
Other current liabilities		8,525		10,349		14,730			
Total Current Liabilities		174,309		789,191		357,466			
			_		_				
Long-Term Liabilities:									
Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount of \$137, \$209 and \$232		99,863		99,791		99,768			
Credit facility borrowings						20,000			
York Property capital lease obligation		167,657		168,986		169,407			
Deferred gain on sale of York Property		16,270		17,117		17,399			
Pension liabilities		59,402		55,273					
Deferred income taxes		11,081		4,345					
Accrued income taxes		8,491				3,423			
Deferred compensation liability		30,438		24,158		23,034			
Other liabilities		11,355		16,617		16,711			

Total Liabilities	878,866	1,175,478	707,208
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 11)			
Shareholders Equity:			
Common Stock, \$0.10 par value	6,635	6,473	6,434
Authorized shares at September 30, 2007 200,000,000			
Issued and outstanding shares at September 30, 2007 66,430,155			
Issued and outstanding shares at December 31, 2006 64,795,100			
Issued and outstanding shares at September 30, 2006 64,437,215			
Additional paid-in capital	238,061	197,047	185,221
Retained earnings	245,654	160,055	96,255
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(46,570)	(61,888)	(6,625)
1			
Total Shareholders Equity	443,780	301,687	281,285
Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity	\$ 1,322,646	\$ 1,477,165	\$ 988,493

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

# SOTHEBY S CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(Thousands of dollars)

	Nine Mo	nths Ended
	September 30, 2007	September 30, 2006
Operating Activities:		
Net income	\$ 110,735	\$ 36,744
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization expense	16,295	16,035
Gain on sale of land and buildings	(4,752)	
Impairment loss	14,979	
Equity in earnings of investees	(2,389)	(660)
Deferred income tax expense	(15,450)	1,781
Stock compensation expense	20,253	11,204
Non-cash defined benefit pension expense	6,932	4,962
Asset provisions	3,371	3,187
Amortization of discount related to antitrust matters	958	2,040
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	(14,094)	(13,172)
Other	(967)	637
Changes in assets and liabilities		
Decrease in accounts receivable	85,257	168,540
Increase in inventory	(64,222)	(26,822)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets	3,116	(7,490)
Increase in other non-current assets	(37,386)	(1,303)
Purchase of trust assets related to the deferred compensation liability	(29,661)	(1,303)
	(22,341)	(18,421)
Funding of settlement liabilities		
Decrease in due to consignors  Increase in income tax receivable and deferred income tax assets	(306,147) (6,519)	(213,747) (4,955)
Increase in accrued income taxes and deferred income tax liabilities		
	34,964	8,243
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities	(27,448)	(44,657)
Net cash used by operating activities	(234,516)	(77,854)
Investing Activities:		
Funding of notes receivable and consignor advances	(249,279)	(216,034)
Collections of notes receivable and consignor advances	244,715	170,951
Purchases of short-term investments	(385,275)	2.0,522
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments	511,317	
Capital expenditures	(11,570)	(8,317)
Proceeds from the sale of land and buildings	6,163	(0,517)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired	(1,470)	
Distributions from equity investees	5,660	3,075
Decrease in restricted cash	5,670	3,238
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities	125,931	(47,087)
<u> </u>		
Financing Activities:		200 (72
Proceeds from revolving credit facility borrowings		398,673
Repayments of revolving credit facility borrowings		(415,158)

Dividends paid	(23,285)	(6,440)
Repayment of acquiree bank debt	( , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	(9,531)
Decrease in York Property capital lease obligation	(1,198)	(1,059)
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options	16,077	57,928
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	14,094	13,172
Net cash provided by financing activities	5,688	37,585
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	2,910	1,506
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(99,987)	(85,850)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	221,094	124,956
	<del></del>	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 121,107 \$	39,106

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## SOTHEBY S NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included herein have been prepared by Sotheby s (or, together with its subsidiaries, the Company) pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (the U.S.) have been condensed or omitted from this report, as is permitted by such rules and regulations; however, the Company believes that the disclosures herein are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. It is suggested that these condensed financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company s 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Additional Paid-In Capital and Retained Earnings The September 30, 2006 balances of Additional Paid-In Capital and Retained Earnings have been restated to \$185.2 million and \$96.3 million, respectively, to properly reflect the cumulative effect of previously unrecorded non-cash stock compensation charges, net of taxes, related to the years 1999 to 2003. The original amounts reported for Additional Paid-In Capital and Retained Earnings as of September 30, 2006 were \$181.4 million and \$100 million, respectively.

Dealer Revenues In the fourth quarter of 2006, due to the acquisition of Noortman Master Paintings B.V. (or NMP) (see Note 3) and the resulting increase in the Company s Dealer activities, certain activities which were previously included as part of the Auction segment were realigned with NMP and aggregated into a newly established Dealer segment (see Note 4). Accordingly, revenues related to such activities, which in the first quarter of 2006 were classified within Auction and Related Revenues, are now reported as Dealer Revenues for all periods presented.

In the opinion of the management of the Company, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the interim financial statements included herein have been made. The results for three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of results expected for the year ending December 31, 2007.

#### 2. Seasonality of Business

The worldwide art auction market has two principal selling seasons, spring and autumn. Accordingly, the Company s auction business is seasonal, with peak revenues and operating income generally occurring in the second and fourth quarters of each year. Consequently, first and third quarter results typically reflect a lower volume of auction activity when compared to the second and fourth quarters and, historically, a net loss due to the fixed nature of many of the Company s operating expenses.

#### 3. Acquisition

On June 7, 2006, the Company and Arcimboldo S.A. ( Arcimboldo ), a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the Purchase Agreement ), pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Noortman Master Paintings B.V., a company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands and a pre-eminent art dealer. The acquisition of NMP has provided the Company with the opportunity to expand its dealer activities. NMP is based in Maastricht, the Netherlands.

Robert C. Noortman, who was the Managing Director of NMP and sole shareholder of Arcimboldo and also guaranteed the obligations of Arcimboldo under the Purchase Agreement, died unexpectedly on January 14, 2007. Following Mr. Noortman s death, his guarantee under the Purchase Agreement remains binding on his estate. NMP is continuing under the leadership of Mr. Noortman s son, William Noortman. NMP s results are included in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements beginning on June 1, 2006.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company paid initial consideration (the Initial Consideration ) in the form of 1,946,849 shares of Sotheby s Class A Common Stock (Sotheby s Shares), which had a fair value of approximately \$41.4 million. The fair value of the Sotheby s Shares issued as Initial

Consideration is based on the actual number of shares issued using the closing price of the Sotheby's Shares on the New York Stock Exchange of \$25.30 per share on June 6, 2006 reduced by \$7.9 million to reflect the fair value of certain restrictions on the future transfer of the Initial Consideration, as discussed in more detail below. The fair value of these restrictions was determined by an independent valuation expert. In addition to the Initial Consideration, the Company acquired NMP subject to approximately \$25.6 million of indebtedness, consisting of a 12.5 million (\$16.1 million) long-term non-interest bearing note payable to Arcimboldo over a period of three years (as discussed in more detail below) and \$9.5 million of bank debt that was repaid upon the closing of the transaction, as well as the settlement of an \$11.7 million payable to Sotheby's. As of the date of acquisition, the present value of the note payable to Arcimboldo was approximately 11.3 million (\$14.6 million). The 1.2 million (\$1.5 million) discount on the note payable is being amortized to interest expense over the three-year term. The first and second installments of 2.1 million (\$2.6 million) and 2.1 million (\$2.8 million) under the note payable were made on July 26, 2006 and June 7, 2007, respectively. The remaining payments under the note payable are due according to the following schedule: 4.2 million (approximately \$5.9 million) on June 7, 2008 and 4.2 million (approximately \$5.9 million) on June 7, 2009. As of September 30, 2007, the carrying value of the note payable was \$11.1 million. The current portion of the note payable (\$5.4 million) is recorded in the September 30, 2007 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet within Other Liabilities.

If NMP fails to achieve a minimum level of financial performance during the five years following the closing of the transaction, up to 20% of the Initial Consideration will be transferred back to the Company.

An additional 486,712 Sotheby s Shares (the Additional Consideration) have been issued and placed in escrow, to be released only if NMP achieves certain targeted performance and service criteria specified in the Purchase Agreement during the five years following the closing of the transaction. Based on the closing price of Sotheby s Shares on the New York Stock Exchange of \$54.17 per share on October 31, 2007, the Additional Consideration had a fair value of approximately \$26.4 million. The Additional Consideration is being held in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement dated June 7, 2006, among the parties to the Purchase Agreement and LaSalle Bank N.A.

The Purchase Agreement also provides for certain restrictions on the transfer of the Sotheby s Shares received by Arcimboldo, as discussed above. Subject to certain limited exclusions, Arcimboldo may not sell or otherwise transfer any of the Sotheby s Shares that it received as Initial Consideration for a period of two years after the closing, and may not transfer 20% of the Sotheby s Shares that it received as Initial Consideration for a period of five years after the closing.

The Company, Arcimboldo and Mr. Noortman also made customary warranties and covenants in the Purchase Agreement, including certain post-closing business covenants of the Company and certain non-competition and non-solicitation covenants of Arcimboldo and Mr. Noortman for a period of five years following closing. Mr. Noortman also entered into a seven-year employment agreement with NMP, which ceased upon Mr. Noortman s death.

In conjunction with the acquisition of NMP, the Company purchased a key man life insurance policy of \$20 million covering Mr. Noortman. As a result of Mr. Noortman s death on January 14, 2007, the Company became entitled to the \$20 million death benefit under the policy and accordingly recorded such amount as non-operating income in its Condensed Consolidated Income Statement in the first quarter of 2007. The Company collected this amount in April 2007.

In the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed its valuation of the NMP assets acquired (including intangible assets) and liabilities assumed. The fair value of the art-related assets acquired was estimated by a team of qualified art experts. The fair value of all other NMP assets and liabilities was estimated utilizing a number of techniques and independent appraisals. The table below, which is presented in thousands of dollars, summarizes the final allocation of the purchase price to the NMP assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Goodwill related to NMP is not tax deductible.

Purchase price:	
Fair value of Initial Consideration	\$ 41,374
Settlement of payable due to Sotheby s	11,745 *
Direct acquisition costs	1,590
Total purchase price	\$ 54,709
Allocation of purchase price:	
Accounts receivable	\$ 13,424
Inventory	58,820
Fixed assets	3,330
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	293
Other long-term assets	518
Goodwill	17,739 **
Intangible assets	15,656 **
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(20,395)
Other current liabilities	(1,309)
Note payable to Arcimboldo	(14,590)
Bank debt	(9,531)
Deferred tax liabilities	(8,414)
Other non-current liabilities	(832)
Total purchase price	\$ 54,709

- \* Reflects amounts due to Sotheby s for property purchased by NMP at auction prior to the date of acquisition.
- \*\* As a result of Mr. Noortman s death in January 2007, the Company recorded an impairment loss of \$7.3 million in the first quarter of 2007 related to NMP s Goodwill. See Note 6 for additional information on the Goodwill related to NMP and the impairment charge.

The amount allocated to Intangible Assets relates to customer relationships (\$12 million), the NMP trade name (\$2.8 million) and a non-compete agreement (\$0.9 million). As a result of Mr. Noortman s death in January 2007, the Company recorded an impairment loss of \$7.7 million in the first quarter of 2007 related to NMP s intangible assets. See Note 7 for additional information on the Intangible Assets related to NMP and the impairment charges.

The total impairment charges recorded in the first quarter of 2007 related to NMP s Goodwill and Intangible Assets were approximately \$15 million.

#### 4. <u>Segment Reporting</u>

The Company s continuing operations are organized under three business segments Auction, Finance and Dealer.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, due to the acquisition of NMP (see Note 3) and the resulting increase in the Company s Dealer activities, certain activities which were previously included as part of the Auction segment were realigned with NMP and aggregated into a newly established Dealer segment. Such activities include:

The investment in and resale of art and other collectibles directly by the Company.

The investment in art through unsecured loans made by the Company to unaffiliated art dealers (see Note 5).

The activities of certain equity investees, including Acquavella Modern Art.

The purchase and resale of art through an art dealer whose results are required to be consolidated with the Company s results under generally accepted accounting principles. The Company has no equity investment in this entity. (See Note 17.)

All prior period segment information has been revised for comparability to reflect this change in the Company s segment reporting.

The table below presents the Company s revenues from continuing operations by operating segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006:

Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Mont Septemb					
	2007	2006	_	2007	2006		
(Thousands of dollars)							
\$	66,359	\$ 50,83	)	\$ 509,653	\$ 383,200		
	4,421	4,28	5	14,376	12,048		
	13,442	92	)	45,784	3,785		
	1,228	1,28	3	3,500	3,380		
	85,450	57.31	3	573,313	402,413		
	00,100	- 7,0 -		2,2,222	,,,,,,		
	(392)	6	2	(1,348)	(719)		
			-				
\$	85,058	\$ 57,38	)	\$ 571,965	\$ 401,694		
	\$	\$ 66,359 4,421 13,442 1,228 85,450 (392)	September 30,       2007     2006       (Thousar       \$ 66,359     \$ 50,830       4,421     4,283       13,442     920       1,228     1,283       85,450     57,318       (392)     62	September 30,       2007     2006       (Thousands)       \$ 66,359     \$ 50,830       4,421     4,285       13,442     920       1,228     1,283       85,450     57,318       (392)     62	September 30,         September 30,           2007         2006         2007           (Thousands of dollars)           \$ 66,359         \$ 50,830         \$ 509,653           4,421         4,285         14,376           13,442         920         45,784           1,228         1,283         3,500           85,450         57,318         573,313           (392)         62         (1,348)		

\*

9

<sup>\*</sup> Represents charges from the Finance segment to the Auction segment for certain client loans. Such charges, which are eliminated in consolidation, are recorded in Finance segment revenues and in Auction segment direct costs.

The table below presents (loss) income before taxes for the Company s operating segments, as well as a reconciliation of segment (loss) income before taxes to (Loss) Income from Continuing Operations Before Taxes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006:

		Three Months Ended September 30,		hs Ended per 30,
	2007	2006	2007	2006
		(Thousands	of dollars)	
Auction	(\$ 42,224)	(\$ 46,727)	\$ 131,431	\$ 55,303
Finance	1,555	532	3,358	1,058
Dealer (see Note 3)	2,676	(664)	(10,049)	1,353
All Other	423	891	832	1,924
Segment (loss) income before taxes	(37,570)	(45,968)	125,572	59,638
Unallocated amounts and reconciling items:				
Insurance recovery (see Note 3)			20,000	
Gain on sale of land and buildings (see Note 12)			4,752	
Antitrust related recoveries (expenses), net	11	176	(92)	954
Amortization of interest related to Antitrust matters (see Note 14)		(640)	(958)	(2,040)
Equity in earnings of investees*	(1,050)	(248)	(3,921)	(1,084)
(Loss) income from continuing operations before taxes	\$ (38,609)	\$ (46,680)	\$ 145,353	\$ 57,468

<sup>\*</sup> Represents the Company s pre-tax share of earnings related to its equity investees. Such amounts are included above in income (loss) before taxes for the Dealer segment, but are presented net of taxes in the Condensed Consolidated Income Statements within (Loss) Income from Continuing Operations Before Taxes.

The table below presents assets for the Company s operating segments, as well as a reconciliation of segment assets to consolidated assets as of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006:

		September 30, 2007	December 31, 2006	September 30, 2006	
		(	lars)		
Auction		\$ 901,459	\$ 1,066,089	\$ 579,185	
Finance		170,261	178,548	180,090	
Dealer		156,684	156,710	151,279	
All Other		168	1,050	951	
Total segment assets		1,228,572	1,402,397	911,505	
Unallocated amounts:					
Deferred tax assets and income tax receivable		94,074	74,768	76,988	
Consolidated Assets		\$ 1,322,646	\$ 1,477,165	\$ 988,493	
	10				

#### 5. Receivables

Accounts Receivable - Accounts Receivable primarily relates to the Company s Auction segment. Under the standard terms and conditions of the Company s auction sales, the Company is not obligated to pay consignors for items that have not been paid for by the purchaser. If the purchaser defaults on payment, the Company has the right to cancel the sale and return the property to the owner, re-offer the property at auction or negotiate a private sale.

At September 30, 2007, receivables due from two individual purchasers represented 12% (\$42.5 million) and 11% (\$37.4 million) of net client receivables. The Company expects to collect the \$42.5 million receivable before the end of 2007 and the \$37.4 million receivable in the second quarter of 2009. The \$37.4 million receivable relates to a private sale and is recorded in non-current Other Assets.

Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances - The Company provides certain collectors and dealers with financing, generally secured by works of art that the Company either has in its possession or permits the borrower to possess. The majority of the Company s secured loans are made at loan to value ratios (principal loan amount divided by the low auction estimate of the collateral) of 50% or lower. However, the Company will also lend at loan to value ratios higher than 50%. As of September 30, 2007, such loans totaled \$72 million and represented 32% of the net Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances balance. The property related to such loans had a low auction estimate of approximately \$120.2 million. The Company s loans are predominantly variable interest rate loans.

The Company generally makes two types of secured loans: (1) advances secured by consigned property to borrowers who are contractually committed, in the near term, to sell the property at auction (a consignor advance); and (2) general purpose term loans to collectors or dealers secured by property not presently intended for sale (a term loan). The consignor advance allows a consignor to receive funds shortly after consignment for an auction that will occur several weeks or months in the future, while preserving for the benefit of the consignor the potential of the auction process. Term loans allow the Company to establish or enhance mutually beneficial relationships with dealers and collectors and sometimes result in auction consignments. Secured loans are generally made with full recourse against the borrower. In certain instances, however, secured loans are made with recourse limited to the works of art pledged as security for the loan. To the extent that the Company is looking wholly or partially to the collateral for repayment of its loans, repayment can be adversely impacted by a decline in the art market in general or in the value of the particular collateral. In addition, in situations where the borrower becomes subject to bankruptcy or insolvency laws, the Company is ability to realize on its collateral may be limited or delayed by the application of such laws. Under certain circumstances, the Company also makes unsecured loans to collectors and dealers. Included in gross Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances are unsecured loans totaling \$2.2 million, \$2.1 million and \$1.1 million at September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, respectively.

In certain situations, the Company also finances the purchase of works of art by certain art dealers through unsecured loans. The property purchased pursuant to such unsecured loans is sold privately or at auction with any profit or loss shared by the Company s Dealer segment and the borrower. The total of all such unsecured loans was \$2.1 million, \$1.9 million and \$1 million at September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, respectively. These amounts are included in the total unsecured loan balances provided in the previous paragraph.

At September 30, 2007, two term loans issued to the same borrower totaling \$22 million and one other term loan issued to another borrower totaling \$24.4 million comprised approximately 10% and 11%, respectively, of the net Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances balance. A portion of the collateral underlying the two term loans totaling \$22 million noted above was sold at auction in October 2007 for approximately \$23.5 million (excluding buyer s premium). The Company expects to collect the proceeds from these sales in the fourth quarter of 2007 and will apply these proceeds towards the outstanding loan balance.

As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances consist of the following:

	September 3007	), [	December 31, 2006		tember 30, 2006	
		(Thousands of dollars)				
Current:						
Consignor advances	\$ 80,25	55 \$	47,974	\$	41,476	
Term loans	83,00	5	105,250		92,589	
Allowance for credit losses	(1,05	(1)	(1,154)		(1,182)	
Sub-total	162,20	19	152,070		132,883	
	-					
Non-current:						
Consignor advances	2,20	00	5,400		179	
Term loans	57,82	6	51,074		57,418	
Sub-total	60,02	6	56,474		57,597	
Notes receivable and consignor advances (net)	\$ 222,23	5 \$	208,544	\$	190,480	
1.000 10001 and consignor activation (not)	ψ 222,23	υ ψ	200,011	Ψ	1,0,100	

The weighted average interest rates charged on Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances were 7.8% and 7.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and 8% and 8.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of September 30, 2007 and 2006, Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances include \$58.1 million and \$19.3 million, respectively, of consignor advances related to auction guarantees, which are charged below market interest rates. Excluding these consignor advances, substantially all of the remaining Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances balances relate to Finance segment loans, which earned weighted average interest rates of 10.5% and 10.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and 10.6% and 10% for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Changes in the Allowance for Credit Losses relating to Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

		Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2007	2006			
	(Thousand	s of dollars)			
Allowance for credit losses at January 1	\$ 1,154	\$ 792			
Change in loan loss provision	(124)	437			
Write-offs		(69)			
Foreign currency exchange rate changes	21	22			
Allowance for credit losses at September 30	\$ 1,051	\$ 1,182			

#### 6. Goodwill

The Company has Goodwill related to its Auction and Dealer segments. The Goodwill in the Dealer segment is solely attributable to NMP, which was acquired on June 7, 2006 (see Note 3). Robert C. Noortman, who was the Managing Director of NMP, died unexpectedly on January 14, 2007. NMP is continuing under the leadership of Mr. Noortman s son, William Noortman.

As a result of Mr. Noortman s death, the Goodwill related to NMP was tested for impairment and, as a result, the Company recorded an impairment loss of \$7.3 million in the first quarter of 2007. The fair value of NMP utilized in determining the amount of the impairment loss was estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology.

12

In March 2007, the Company acquired an auctioneer in Europe, resulting in \$1.6 million of Auction segment Goodwill based on the Company s preliminary purchase price allocation. The Company will complete the allocation of the purchase price before March 2008. This acquisition is not material to the Company.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, changes in the carrying value of Goodwill were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Nine Mon	ths Ended
Septembe	r 30, 2007

The September 30, 2006 Goodwill balance related to the Dealer segment was based on the preliminary purchase price allocation performed for NMP. This purchase price allocation was completed in the first quarter of 2007. As a result, subsequent to December 31, 2006, amounts initially classified as Goodwill were allocated among Inventory (\$2.4 million) and Intangible Assets (\$1.5 million). Additionally, Deferred Tax Liabilities of \$1 million were recorded to reflect the impact of taxable temporary differences between the book and tax bases of certain acquired assets and liabilities and the Company paid \$0.1 million in direct acquisition costs, resulting in a corresponding increase to Goodwill of \$1.1 million.

#### 7. <u>Intangible Assets</u>

As discussed in Note 3, on June 7, 2006, the Company acquired NMP. In conjunction with the purchase price allocation, the Company assigned approximately \$15.7 million to acquired intangible assets. Robert C. Noortman, who was the Managing Director of NMP, died unexpectedly on January 14, 2007. NMP is continuing under the leadership of Mr. Noortman s son, William Noortman.

As a result of Mr. Noortman s death, the Company recorded an impairment loss in the first quarter of 2007 of \$7.7 million in the Dealer segment related to NMP s customer relationships (\$6 million) and trade name (\$0.8 million), as well as Mr. Noortman s non-compete agreement (\$0.9 million). The impairment charge related to Mr. Noortman s non-compete agreement resulted in the write-off of its entire remaining carrying value. The fair values of NMP s Intangible Assets utilized in determining the amount of the impairment charges were based on independent appraisals.

As of September 30, 2007, Intangible Assets consisted of the following:

	Ca	Gross arrying mount	Accumulated Amortization  Chousands of dollars	A	Net arrying mount
Indefinite lived intangible assets: Trade Name	\$	2,195	indusanus of donars	s)	
Amortizable intangible assets:	_				
Customer Relationships	\$	4,816	(\$1,057)	\$	3,759

As of December 31, 2006, Intangible Assets consisted of the following:

	Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulated Amortization	Net Carrying Amount
		(Thousands of dollars)	
Indefinite lived intangible assets:			
Trade Name	\$ 2,502		
Amortizable intangible assets:			
Customer Relationships	\$ 11,376	(\$1,658)	\$ 9,718
Non-compete agreeement	605	(45)	560
Total	\$ 11,981	(\$1,703)	\$ 10,278

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, amortization expense related to Intangible Assets was approximately \$0.3 million and \$1.2 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the remaining useful life of NMP s customer relationships will be \$0.4 million for the remainder of 2007, \$1.4 million in 2008 and 2009, and \$0.6 million in 2010.

#### 8. Credit Arrangements

Bank Credit Facility The Company has a senior secured credit agreement with an international syndicate of lenders arranged by Banc of America Securities LLC (BofA) and LaSalle Bank N.A. (the BofA Credit Agreement). The BofA Credit Agreement originally provided for borrowings of up to \$250 million through a revolving credit facility. In May 2006, the Company amended the BofA Credit Agreement to provide for \$50 million in additional commitments from its existing lenders, thereby increasing the total borrowing capacity to \$300 million. The amendment also permits the amount of available borrowings to be increased by an additional \$50 million to \$350 million. As discussed in more detail below, in July 2007, the BofA Credit Agreement was further amended to enhance the Company s flexibility related to limitations on capital expenditures and dividend payments.

The amount of borrowings available at any time under the BofA Credit Agreement is limited to a borrowing base, which is generally equal to 100% of eligible loans (i.e., notes receivable and consignor advances) made by the Company in the U.S. and the United Kingdom (the U.K.) plus 15% of the Company is net tangible assets (calculated as total assets less current liabilities, goodwill, intangible assets, unamortized debt discount and eligible loans). As of September 30, 2007, there were no outstanding borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement, and the amount available for borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement was \$300 million.

The BofA Credit Agreement is available through September 7, 2010; provided that in the event that any of the \$100 million in long-term debt securities (the Notes) issued by the Company in February 1999 are still outstanding on July 1, 2008, then either: (a) the Company shall deposit cash in an amount equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes on such date into an account in the sole control and dominion of BofA for the benefit of the lenders and the holders of the Notes or (b) the Company shall have otherwise demonstrated its ability to redeem and pay in full the Notes; otherwise, the BofA Credit Agreement shall terminate and all amounts outstanding thereunder shall be due and payable in full on July 1, 2008.

The Company s obligations under the BofA Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the non-real estate assets of the Company, as well as the non-real estate assets of its subsidiaries in the U.S. and the U.K.

The BofA Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring the Company to not exceed a maximum level of capital expenditures (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) and dividend payments (as discussed in more detail below) and to have a quarterly interest coverage ratio (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.0 and a quarterly leverage ratio (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) of not more than: (i) 3.5 for quarters ending December 31, 2006 to September 30, 2007 and (ii) 3.0 for quarters ending December 31, 2007 and thereafter. The maximum level of annual capital expenditures

permitted under the BofA Credit Agreement, with certain exceptions as defined in the July 2007 amendment to the BofA Credit Agreement, is \$15 million through 2007 and \$20 million thereafter with any unused amounts carried forward to the following year. Dividend payments made on or before June 30, 2007, were limited to 40% of the Company s net income arising after June 30, 2005 and computed on a cumulative basis. On July 25, 2007, the BofA Credit Agreement was amended so that any dividend payments made on or after that date are limited to 50% of the Company s net income arising after July 1, 2007 and computed on a cumulative basis. Additionally, the amount available for distribution as dividend payments was increased. The BofA Credit Agreement also has certain non-financial covenants and restrictions. The Company is in compliance with its covenants related to the BofA Credit Agreement.

At the option of the Company, any borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement generally bear interest at a rate equal to: (i) LIBOR plus 1.75%, or (ii) 0.5% plus the higher of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the weighted average interest rate charged to the Company on outstanding borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement was approximately 7.1% and 6.9%, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, the Company had no borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement.

Through September 30, 2007, the Company has paid underwriting, structuring and amendment fees of \$2.8 million related to the BofA Credit Agreement, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis to interest expense over the term of the facility.

Senior Unsecured Debt In February 1999, the Company issued a tranche of long-term debt securities (defined above as the Notes), pursuant to the Company s \$200 million shelf registration with the SEC, for an aggregate offering price of \$100 million. The ten-year Notes have an effective interest rate of 6.98% payable semi-annually in February and August. The Notes have covenants that impose limitations on the Company from placing liens on certain property and entering into certain sale-leaseback transactions. The Company is in compliance with these covenants. As of September 30, 2007, aggregate future principal and interest payments due under the Notes are as follows (in thousands):

Due within 1 year	\$ 6,875
Due within 2 years	102,865
Total future principal and interest payments	\$ 109,740

15

Interest Expense For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, interest expense consists of the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,			ths Ended aber 30,
	2007	2007 2006		2006
		(Thousand	ls of dollars)	
Senior secured credit facility:				
Interest expense on outstanding borrowings	\$	\$ 204	\$	\$ 1,762
Amortization of amendment and arrangement fees	144	143	432	423
Commitment fees	190	183	570	510
Sub-total Sub-total	334	530	1,002	2,695
Interest expense on York Property capital lease obligation	4,411	4,452	13,265	13,384
Interest expense on long-term debt	1,743	1,741	5,228	5,223
Amortization of discount related to antitrust matters				
(see Note 14)		640	958	2,040
Other interest expense	324	788	1,027	1,709
		-		
Total	\$ 6,812	\$ 8,151	\$ 21,480	\$ 25,051

#### 9. Deferred Compensation Plan

On December 7, 2006, the Company adopted the Sotheby s Deferred Compensation Plan (the DCP), effective January 1, 2007. The DCP replaced the Sotheby s, Inc. 1988 Benefit Equalization Plan and the Sotheby s, Inc. 2005 Benefit Equalization Plan (together, the BEP).

The DCP incorporates best practice features of contemporary non-qualified plans, including providing participants with a broad menu of investment crediting options which track a portfolio of various deemed investment funds. Employee deferrals and Company contributions to the DCP are informally funded into a rabbi trust which provides benefit security by sheltering assets in the event of a change-in-control of the Company and certain other situations. DCP liabilities are financed through the trust using Company-owned variable life insurance, as well as other investments. The unfunded liability for the BEP, which totaled \$24.1 million as of December 31, 2006, was transferred into the DCP on January 1, 2007. The Company funded this amount into the rabbi trust on February 8, 2007, and has funded an additional \$5.6 million into the trust subsequent to that date.

As of September 30, 2007, the DCP liability totaled \$30.4 million and the assets held in the rabbi trust totaled \$31.4 million. Changes in the DCP liability resulting from gains (which increase the DCP liability) and losses (which decrease the DCP liability) in deemed participant investments are recognized currently in the Condensed Consolidated Income Statement within Salaries and Related Costs. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, net gains in deemed participant investments totaled \$0.7 million and \$1.9 million, respectively. The trust assets consist of \$19.2 million in equity securities, which are classified as trading securities and reflected at their fair value in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet within Trust Assets Related to Deferred Compensation Liability, and \$12.2 million in Company-owned variable life insurance, which is reflected at its cash surrender value in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet within Trust Assets Related to Deferred Compensation Liability. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of the trading securities and the cash surrender value of the Company-owned variable life insurance are recognized currently in the Condensed Consolidated Income Statement within Other Income (Expense). For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, such net gains totaled \$0.6 million and \$2.1 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2007, the fair value of the trading securities includes approximately \$47,000 in unrealized gains.

#### 10. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Company contributes to a defined benefit pension plan covering most U.K. employees (the U.K. Pension Plan ). In 2007, the Company expects to contribute approximately \$3.3 million to the U.K. Pension Plan. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the components of net pension cost related to the U.K. Pension Plan are:

	,	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Mont Septemb				
		2007		2006		2007		2006
	_	(Thousands of dollars)						
Service cost	\$	2,095	\$	1,751	\$	6,233	\$	4,987
Interest cost		4,150		3,274		12,346		9,521
Expected return on plan assets		(4,979)		(4,221)		(14,810)		(12,274)
Amortization of actuarial loss		1,525		870		4,537		2,529
Amortization of prior service cost		22		68		65		199
Special termination benefits						102		
	_		_		_		_	
Net pension cost	\$	2,813	\$	1,742	\$	8,473	\$	4,962

The table below details the amounts in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss expected to be recognized as components of net pension cost, net of taxes, for the year ending December 31, 2007 (in thousands of dollars):

Amortization of actuarial loss Amortization of prior service cost	\$	4,351 64
	_	
Total	\$	4,415

#### 11. Commitments and Contingencies

Employment Arrangements As of September 30, 2007, the Company had employment arrangements with ten employees, which expire at various points between August 2008 and June 2011. Such arrangements provide, among other benefits, for minimum salary levels and for incentive bonuses which are payable only if specified Company and individual goals are attained. Additionally, certain of these arrangements provide for participation in the Company s Executive Bonus Plan, annual equity grants, and severance payments and continuation of benefits upon termination of employment under certain circumstances. The aggregate remaining commitment for salaries related to these employment arrangements, excluding incentive bonuses, any participation in the Company s Executive Bonus Plan and equity grants, was approximately \$19.3 million as of September 30, 2007.

Lending Commitments In certain situations, the Company enters into legally binding arrangements to lend, primarily on a collateralized basis and subject to certain limitations and conditions, to potential consignors and other individuals who have collections of fine art or other objects. Unfunded commitments to extend additional credit were \$13.1 million at September 30, 2007.

Legal Actions The Company becomes involved, from time to time, in various claims and lawsuits incidental to the ordinary course of its business. Management does not believe that the outcome of any of these pending claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.

York Property The Company s North American Auction, Dealer and Finance operations, as well as its corporate offices, are headquartered at 1334 York Avenue, New York, New York (the York Property). On February 7, 2003, the Company sold the York

Property and entered into an agreement to lease it back from the buyer for an initial 20-year term, with options to extend the lease for two additional 10-year terms. According to the terms of the lease, if the landlord desires to sell the York Property or to engage in certain other 17

transactions involving a change of ownership or control of the landlord, notice shall be given to the Company by the landlord of such proposed transaction and the landlord shall give the Company an offer to purchase the York Property and a statement of the proposed purchase price and the proposed closing date for the transaction (the Landlord's Offer). Upon receipt of such notice, the Company has a thirty day right of first offer ( ROFO ) to accept or reject the Landlord's Offer. If accepted, the Company would purchase the York Property at the proposed purchase price. Management is currently assessing its rights and options with respect to the York Property. In reviewing its options, the Company and its legal advisors have come to believe that the landlord violated the Company's rights under the ROFO in 2005. The Company is pursuing its rights with respect to the ROFO and, if the Company is successful, this could result in a material benefit to the Company.

Acquavella Modern Art On May 23, 1990, the Company purchased the common stock of the Pierre Matisse Gallery Corporation (Matisse) for approximately \$153 million. The assets of Matisse consisted of a collection of fine art (the Matisse Inventory). Upon consummation of the purchase, the Company entered into an agreement with Acquavella Contemporary Art, Inc. (ACA) to form Acquavella Modern Art (AMA), a partnership through which the Matisse Inventory would be sold. The Company contributed the Matisse Inventory to AMA in exchange for a 50% interest in the partnership.

Pursuant to the AMA partnership agreement, upon the death of the majority shareholder of ACA, the successors-in-interest to ACA have the right, but not the obligation, to require the Company to purchase their interest in AMA at a price equal to the fair market value of such interest. The fair market value shall be determined by independent accountants pursuant to a process and a formula set forth in the partnership agreement that includes an appraisal of the works of art held by AMA at such time. The net assets of AMA consist principally of the Matisse Inventory. At September 30, 2007, the carrying value of this inventory was \$58.4 million. To the extent that AMA requires working capital, the Company has agreed to lend the same to AMA. As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, no such amounts were outstanding. Additionally, from time to time, the Company transacts with the principal shareholder of ACA in the normal course of its business.

(See Notes 3, 8 and 13 for other commitments. See Notes 3, 13, 14 and 20 for other contingencies.)

#### 12. Gain on Sale of Land and Buildings

In March 2007, the Company completed the sale of land and buildings at Billingshurst, West Sussex in the U.K., which previously housed an auction salesroom. As a result of this sale, the Company recognized a gain of \$4.8 million in the first quarter of 2007.

#### 13. Auction Guarantees

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company will guarantee to consignors a minimum price in connection with the sale of property at auction. The Company must perform under its auction guarantee in the event the property sells for less than the minimum price, in which event the Company must pay the difference between the sale price at auction and the amount of the auction guarantee. If the property does not sell, the amount of the auction guarantee must be paid, but the Company has the right to recover such amount through future sale of the property. The sale proceeds ultimately realized by the Company, in certain of these instances, may exceed the amount of any prior losses recognized on the auction guarantee. Additionally, the Company is generally entitled to a share of the excess proceeds if the property under the auction guarantee sells above a minimum price. The Company is obligated under the terms of certain guarantees to advance a portion of the guaranteed amount prior to the auction. In certain situations, the Company reduces its financial exposure under auction guarantees through auction sharing arrangements with unaffiliated partners. Partners may also assist the Company in valuing and marketing the property to be sold at auction.

As of September 30, 2007, the Company had outstanding auction guarantees totaling \$458.5 million, the property relating to which had a mid-estimate sales price (1) of \$478.1 million. The Company s financial exposure under these auction guarantees is reduced by \$6.8 million as a result of arrangements with unaffiliated third parties. Substantially all of the property related to such auction guarantees is being offered at auctions in the fourth quarter of 2007 with the remainder of the property to be offered at auctions in the first

half of 2008. As of September 30, 2007, \$58.1 million of the guaranteed amount had been advanced by the Company and is recorded within Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (see Note 5). As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, the carrying amount of the liability related to the Company s auction guarantees was approximately \$5.4 million, \$1.5 million and \$2.7 million, respectively, and was reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities.

On November 7 and 8, 2007, the Company held its major autumn sales of Impressionist and Modern Art. While these sales were profitable overall, the Company did incur losses on certain auction guarantees that were outstanding as of September 30, 2007 and, as a result, the Company recorded a principal loss of \$14.6 million within Auction and Related Revenues in the third quarter of 2007.

(1) The mid-estimate sales price is calculated as the average of the low and high pre-sale auction estimates for the property under the auction guarantee. Pre-sale estimates are not always accurate predictions of auction sale results.

#### 14. Settlement Liabilities

In conjunction with the settlement of certain civil antitrust litigation, in May 2003, the Company and its principal competitor, Christie's International, PLC (Christie's) issued to the class of plaintiff's vendor's commission discount certificates (Discount Certificates) with a face value of \$62.5 million. The Discount Certificates are fully redeemable in connection with any auction conducted by the Company or Christie's in the U.S. or in the U.K. and may be used to satisfy consignment charges involving vendor's commission, risk of loss and/or catalogue illustration. The court determined that the \$62.5 million face value of the Discount Certificates had a fair market value of not less than \$50 million, which represents the amount recorded by the Company as Settlement Liabilities in the third quarter of 2000. The Discount Certificates will expire on May 14, 2008 and cannot be redeemed subsequent to that date; however, any unused Discount Certificates may be redeemed for cash at their face value at any time between May 15, 2007 and May 14, 2008. The \$12.5 million discount on the face value of the Discount Certificates was amortized to interest expense over the four-year period prior to May 15, 2007, the first date at which the Discount Certificates were redeemable for cash. As of September 30, 2007, the face value of unused Discount Certificates that the Company could be required to redeem was \$24.4 million, which is reflected as a current liability in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. Due to the unpredictability of Discount Certificate redemption activity, it is possible that actual future redemptions could be materially less than the current carrying value of the related liability, which would result in the reversal of any remaining liability upon the expiration of the Discount Certificates on May 14, 2008.

#### 15. Comprehensive (Loss) Income

The Company s comprehensive (loss) income includes net (loss) income for the period, as well as other comprehensive income (loss), which consists of the change in the foreign currency translation adjustment account and credits related to the amortization of prior service cost and actuarial losses from the Company s U.K. Pension Plan (net of taxes) during the period. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, comprehensive (loss) income is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

	Three Mon Septem		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2007 2006		2007	2006	
Net (loss) income	(\$ 20,948)	(\$ 30,727)	\$ 110,735	\$ 36,744	
Foreign currency exchange rate gains (losses)	8,973	(194)	12,067	4,549	
Amortization of prior service cost and actuarial losses from U.K.	,	( )	,		
Pension Plan, net of taxes	1,102		3,251		
Comprehensive (loss) income	(\$ 10,873)	(\$ 30,921)	\$ 126,053	\$ 41,293	
19					

#### 16. Share-Based Payments and Dividends

Stock Compensation Expense For the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense totaling \$6.8 million (\$4.7 million, after tax) and \$4.8 million (\$3.2 million, after tax), respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense totaling \$20.2 million (\$14.0 million, after tax) and \$11.2 million (\$7.5 million, after tax).

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, net cash provided by financing activities included approximately \$14.1 million and \$13.2 million, respectively, due to excess tax benefits from stock-based payment arrangements.

Stock Options Stock options issued pursuant to the Sotheby s 1997 Stock Option Plan (the 1997 Stock Option Plan ) are exercisable into authorized but unissued shares of the Company s common stock. Stock options generally expire ten years after the date of grant and generally vest and become exercisable ratably after each of the first, second, third, fourth and fifth years following the date of grant (except in the U.K. where certain options vest three-fifths after the third year and one-fifth after each of the fourth and fifth years following the date of grant). Stock options vest immediately upon a change in control of the Company (as defined in the plan document for the 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended). In March 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the Compensation Committee ) approved an amendment to the 1997 Stock Option Plan whereby the maximum amount of shares reserved for issuance under this plan was reduced by approximately 7 million shares to 7.9 million shares. This amendment is consistent with the evolution of the Company s equity compensation strategy towards a preference for restricted stock as opposed to stock options and was made in conjunction with shareholder approval of a 4.5 million increase in the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the Sotheby s Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Plan (the Restricted Stock Plan.) As of September 30, 2007, 0.5 million shares of common stock were available for issuance under the 1997 Stock Option Plan for new stock option grants.

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated using a Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions outlined below:

Expected life (estimated period of time outstanding): The expected life is estimated using historical exercise behavior taking into consideration the vesting period for each grant.

Risk-free rate of return: The risk-free rate of return is based on the comparable U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity that approximates the expected life of the grant.

Expected volatility: The expected volatility is based on historical volatility for a period approximately equal to the stock option s expected life.

Dividend yield: Dividend yield is the expected rate of dividends to be paid throughout the expected life of the option grant.

No stock options were granted in 2006 or through the first nine months of 2007.

Changes in the number of stock options outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 were as follows (shares in thousands):

	Options Outstanding	 ted Average rcise Price
Balance at January 1, 2007	2,219	\$ 15.65
Options canceled		
Options expired	(10)	\$ 13.77
Options exercised	(1,100)	\$ 14.57
Balance at September 30, 2007	1,109	\$ 16.80
Options Exercisable at September 30, 2007	1,071	\$ 16.88

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 was approximately \$29.1 million and \$32.4 million, respectively. The Company expects its remaining unvested stock options to vest.

The following table summarizes additional information about stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2007 (shares and aggregate intrinsic value in thousands):

	Number of Options	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term	Aggregate Intrinsic Value	
Options Outstanding	1,109	4.0 years	\$	34,263
Options Exercisable	1,071	4.0 years	\$	33,087

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, the amount of cash received from the exercise of stock options was approximately \$16.1 million and the related tax benefit was \$9.4 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the amount of cash received from the exercise of stock options was \$57.9 million and the related tax benefit was \$10.3 million.

Restricted Stock In February 2003, the Compensation Committee approved the adoption of the Restricted Stock Plan, effective May 1, 2003. The Restricted Stock Plan was approved by a vote of shareholders on April 29, 2003. The Restricted Stock Plan was amended on November 7, 2005 to conform the plan to the Company s capital structure following a recapitalization transaction that was completed on September 7, 2005. The purpose of the Restricted Stock Plan is to enable the Company to continue to attract and retain valued employees.

The Restricted Stock Plan provides for the issuance of restricted shares of common stock to eligible employees, as determined by the Compensation Committee. In making such determinations, the Compensation Committee may take into account the nature of the services rendered by such employees, their present and potential contributions to the Company s success, and such other factors as the Compensation Committee in its discretion deems relevant.

Restricted stock shares granted pursuant to the Restricted Stock Plan generally vest ratably after each of the first, second, third and fourth years following the date of grant; however, shares issued in connection with the Sotheby s Executive Bonus Plan (the EBP) vest ratably over a three-year period and restricted shares issued pursuant to certain employment arrangements vest over three and five-year periods, subject to the satisfaction of certain service and performance or market-based criteria (as discussed in more detail below). Prior to vesting, participants have voting rights and receive dividends, if any, but the shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered. On May 8, 2006, the Company s shareholders approved an amendment and restatement of the Restricted Stock

restricted stock that may be issued under the Restricted Stock Plan was increased by 4.5 million shares to 6.5 million shares. As of September 30, 2007, 3.3 million shares of common stock remained available for future grants.

Compensation expense related to restricted stock shares grants is determined based upon the closing fair value of the Company s stock on the business day before the date of grant. Such compensation expense is subsequently amortized to Salaries and Related Costs over the corresponding graded vesting period.

In February 2005, the Compensation Committee approved the adoption of the EBP, effective retroactively to January 1, 2005. The EBP was approved by a vote of shareholders on May 4, 2005. The EBP provides for the issuance of restricted stock, generally governed by the Restricted Stock Plan, and cash awards based on satisfaction of objective performance criteria set by the Compensation Committee. On May 7, 2007, the Company s shareholders approved an amendment and restatement of the EBP whereby, among other things, the aggregate yearly limit on awards under the plan was removed and an annual limit of \$3 million per participant was added.

Restricted shares issued pursuant to the EBP vest ratably after each of the first, second and third years following the date of grant. In February 2006 and February 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of 201,621 and 151,978 shares of restricted stock with fair values of \$4.1 million and \$5.8 million, respectively, pursuant to the EBP.

On April 1, 2006, in conjunction with his employment arrangement and in an effort to encourage and reward the growth of shareholder value, the Company agreed to grant William F. Ruprecht, the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer, a one time award of 300,000 shares of restricted stock that will only vest for Mr. Ruprecht at the end of the third and fifth years of his employment arrangement, and only if certain objective performance or market-based criteria are satisfied as measured at each of the vesting dates. These criteria are based on either a specified compound increase in shareholder value as measured by stock price and dividends, if any, or a specified compound cumulative increase in the Company's net income. Additionally, as he had in the past three years under his previous employment agreement, Mr. Ruprecht received a 2006 equity award of restricted stock. This award of 78,785 restricted shares, which was received on March 31, 2006, had a fair market value equal to \$2.1 million on the date of grant and vests in equal annual installments over four years. Mr. Ruprecht is no longer eligible to participate in the EBP, but instead, beginning in 2007, is entitled to a restricted stock award in each year, subject to agreed annual minimum (\$1.4 million) and maximum (\$2.2 million) levels, the variability of which will be determined largely based on the extent to which the performance criteria for the EBP have been satisfied. Pursuant to this provision of Mr. Ruprecht s employment arrangement, Mr. Ruprecht received a grant of 57,277 restricted shares on February 9, 2007 with a fair value of \$2.2 million.

Pursuant to certain employment arrangements agreed to in the third quarter of 2006 with certain senior executives, the Company granted 427,531 shares of restricted stock that will only vest for the grantees at the end of the third and fifth years of their employment arrangements, and only if certain objective performance or market-based criteria are satisfied as measured at each of the vesting dates. These criteria are based on either a specified compound increase in shareholder value as measured by stock price and dividends, if any, or a specified compound cumulative increase in the Company s net income.

In addition to the restricted grants discussed above, the Company also issued 258,818 shares of restricted stock in 2006 with a fair value of \$6.6 million that will vest ratably after each of the first, second, third and fourth years of service following the date of grant.

In February 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of the following restricted stock grants:

19,135 shares with a fair value of \$0.7 million related to other executive employment arrangements. Such shares will vest ratably after each of the first, second, third and fourth years of service following the date of grant.

469,688 shares awarded at the discretion of the Compensation Committee with a fair value of \$18.2 million. These shares generally will vest ratably after each of the first, second, third and fourth years of service following the date of grant.

In May 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of a restricted stock grant of 10,000 shares to a newly hired executive.

In September 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of a restricted stock grant of 44,963 shares to certain executive level employees.

Changes in the number of outstanding restricted stock shares during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 were as follows (shares in thousands):

	Restricted Shares	W	eighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2007	2,081	\$	22.08
Restricted shares granted	753	\$	39.18
Restricted shares vested	(528)	\$	16.28
Restricted shares canceled	(10)	\$	25.11
Balance at September 30, 2007	2,296	\$	29.01

The total fair value of restricted stock shares that vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 was \$22.9 million and \$14.1 million, respectively, based on the closing stock price on the dates the shares vested. The Company expects its remaining unvested shares of restricted stock to vest.

As of September 30, 2007, unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested portion of the Company s stock-based compensation was approximately \$37 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.8 years.

*Dividends* On February 27, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.10 per share (approximately \$6.6 million) that was paid to shareholders of record as of February 28, 2007 on March 15, 2007.

On May 7, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.10 per share (approximately \$6.7 million) that was paid to shareholders of record as of May 31, 2007 on June 15, 2007.

On August 8, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.15 per share (approximately \$10 million) that was paid on September 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of August 31, 2007.

On November 6, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.15 per share (approximately \$10 million) to be paid on December 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of November 30, 2007.

#### 17. Variable Interest Entity

The Company has concluded that an entity with whom its Finance segment has outstanding loans of approximately \$2.9 million and to whom the Company provides management consulting services meets the definition of a variable interest entity (VIE) under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, as revised. As the primary beneficiary of the VIE, the Company consolidates the entity as part of its Dealer segment (see Note 4).

The entity is an art gallery which is engaged in business as a broker/dealer in works of art. The Company provides management consulting services to the entity in exchange for a management fee, which is equal to 50% of the entity s net income (excluding the management fee and certain other specified revenues

and expenses). Included in the Company s consolidated assets as of September 30, 2007 is inventory with a carrying value of approximately \$3.8 million. Such inventory consists entirely of artwork and is the collateral for the \$2.9 million in outstanding loans discussed above, which are eliminated in consolidation. The Company has no equity investment in the entity.

The Company accounts for its interest in the entity on a quarter lag applied on a consistent basis. As of June 30, 2007, the entity had total assets of \$6.4 million, total liabilities of \$4.9 million and capital of \$1.5 million.

#### 18. <u>Derivative Instruments</u>

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to hedge cash flow exposures related to foreign currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany balances and, to a lesser extent, foreign currency denominated client receivable and payable balances, as well as foreign currency denominated auction guarantee obligations. Such forward exchange contracts held by the Company are typically short-term with settlement dates less than one year from their inception. Exposures related to foreign currency risks are centrally managed by the Company s global treasury function. The Company s objective for holding forward exchange contracts is to minimize foreign currency risks using the most effective methods to eliminate or reduce the impacts of these exposures. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended, and are recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value, which is based on referenced market rates. Changes in the fair value of the Company s forward exchange contracts are recognized currently in earnings.

As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included liabilities of \$0.1 million, \$1.1 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, recorded within Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities reflecting the fair value of the Company s outstanding forward exchange contracts on those dates.

#### 19. <u>Discontinued Operations</u>

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan to sell its domestic real estate brokerage business, Sotheby s International Realty, Inc. (SIR), as well as most of its real estate brokerage offices outside of the U.S. As a result, such operations qualified for treatment as discontinued operations in the fourth quarter of 2003. Included in the Company s results from discontinued operations for nine months ended September 30, 2006 is a litigation accrual related to events that occurred prior to the sale of SIR.

#### 20. <u>Income Taxes</u>

Uncertain Tax Positions In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if there is less than a 50% likelihood of its being sustained. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of the date of adoption was \$16.8 million. Included in this balance are \$12.5 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. Also included in this balance is \$1.5 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred taxes.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a \$1.5 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which were accounted for as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Reduction in Retained Earnings (cumulative effect)	\$ 1,459
Increase in Deferred Tax Assets	\$ 18
Increase in liability for unrecognized tax benefits	\$ 1,477

The Company recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. In addition to the adjustment above, upon the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007, the Company increased its accrual for such interest to \$1.2 million, an increase of \$0.5 million from December 31, 2006. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, the Company increased its accrual for such interest by \$0.4 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, to \$2 million, including the adjustment upon the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007. The Company does not anticipate that it will be subject to penalties.

The Company s policy is to record interest related to sales, value added and other taxes as Interest Expense in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements. Penalties related to such taxes are recorded as General and Administrative Expenses in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements. Interest and penalties related to income taxes are recorded as a component of Income Tax Expense (Benefit) in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company s tax years that are open for audit for federal purposes and for major state, local and foreign jurisdictions are as follows:

#### Federal:

1998 to 2006

#### Major state and local jurisdictions:

New York State: 2004 to 2006

New York City: 1997 to 2006

California: 2002 to 2006

#### Major foreign jurisdictions:

France: 1999 to 2006

Hong Kong: 1998 to 2006

U.K.: 2003 to 2006

The Company is not aware of any issues that would cause a significant increase or decrease to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months. There are currently ongoing tax audits for U.S. federal and New York City jurisdictions and in France. The Company anticipates that these audits may be completed within the next 12 months.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional tax assessments in the noted jurisdictions and adjusts its reserves as additional information or events require. As a result of our analysis, in the third quarter of 2007, the Company increased its liability for unrecognized tax benefits by \$7.7 million.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense The Company reviews its annual effective tax rate on a quarterly basis and makes necessary changes if information or events warrant such changes. The annual effective tax rate is forecasted quarterly using actual historical information and forward-looking estimates. The estimated annual effective tax rate may fluctuate due to changes in forecasted annual operating income; changes to the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets; or changes to actual or forecasted permanent book to tax differences. However, in arriving at this effective tax rate, no effect is included for the tax related to discrete items. Such items are accounted for in the quarter in which they arise. The Company s effective income tax rate related to continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was approximately 25%, as compared to an effective income tax rate of 35% for the same period in 2006. The effective tax benefit rate related to continuing operations for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 was approximately 44%, compared to approximately 34.5% for the same period in 2006.

In the second quarter of 2007, as part of the Company s ongoing evaluation of the utilization of state, federal and foreign operating losses, it was determined that it was more likely than not that its state deferred tax assets could be utilized and hence the valuation allowance established against state operating losses and other deferred tax assets in prior years was reduced to zero. As a result, a \$3.5 million income tax benefit was recorded in the second quarter of 2007. In assessing the need for the valuation allowance, management considered, among other things, its projections of future taxable income and ongoing, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

In the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded an additional net income tax benefit of approximately \$2.2 million related to the correction of immaterial prior period errors. These errors principally relate to the Company s calculation of its valuation allowance for state deferred tax assets in the second quarter of 2007; the impact of which is partially offset by an increase in the liability for unrecorded foreign tax benefits arising in periods prior to 2007.

#### 21. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the balance sheet recognition provisions of this standard, as well as the related disclosure requirements, and accordingly recognized the funded status of its defined benefit pension plans in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006. SFAS No. 158 also requires the measurement of defined benefit pension plan assets and obligations as of the effective date of the employer s fiscal year-end balance sheet. The requirement to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date is effective for the Company as of December 31, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting the measurement date provision of SFAS No. 158, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective for financial statements issued by the Company starting in 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 159, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In June 2007, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 06-11, Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment Awards. EITF No. 06-11 requires the recognition of income tax benefits realized from dividend or dividend equivalents that are charged to retained earnings and paid to employees for unvested employee share-based payment awards as an increase to additional paid-in capital. The provisions of EITF No. 06-11 are effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting EITF No. 06-11, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

#### ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### Seasonality

The worldwide art auction market has two principal selling seasons, spring and autumn. Accordingly, the Company s auction business is seasonal, with peak revenues and operating income generally occurring in the second and fourth quarters of each year. Consequently, first and third quarter results typically reflect lower Net Auction Sales (as defined below under Key Performance Indicators) when compared to the second and fourth quarters and, historically, a net loss due to the fixed nature of many of the Company s operating expenses.

#### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006

Note 4 (Segment Reporting) of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with this discussion.

#### Overview

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, income from continuing operations increased \$72.7 million to \$110.7 million, almost doubling the results for the same period in the prior year. This improvement reflects the strength of the art market during the period, as Net Auction Sales and Private Sales (both defined below under Key Performance Indicators ) increased significantly from the prior year. Total revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 increased \$170.3 million, or 42%, largely as a result of this higher level of sales activity. The increase in total revenues was partially offset by a higher level of operating expenses, which increased \$117.8 million, or 37%, when compared to the prior year. Results for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 include an impairment loss (\$15 million) and insurance recovery (\$20 million) related to Noortman Master Paintings, ( NMP ) (see Impairment Loss and Insurance Recovery below), as well as a \$4.8 million gain on the sale of land and buildings (see Gain on Sale of Land and Buildings below.)

As discussed above, due to the seasonality of the Company's auction business, third quarter results typically reflect a loss from continuing operations. Accordingly, in the third quarter of 2007, the Company reported a loss from continuing operations of \$20.9 million, which represents a \$9.5 million, or 31%, improvement when compared to the third quarter of 2006. This improvement is largely attributable to a \$27.7 million, or 48%, increase in total revenues, primarily as a result of significantly higher Private Sales and Net Auction Sales. This overall improvement includes the impact of \$14.6 million of losses incurred on certain auction guarantees in the November 2007 Impressionist and Modern Art sale. Such losses are reflected within auction and related revenues in the Company's results for the third quarter, as these guarantees were outstanding as of September 30, 2007. The overall increase in total revenues was further offset by a \$25.5 million, or 27%, increase in operating expenses.

The art market has shown considerable strength since the beginning of our autumn season and management remains positive for the remainder of 2007. However, the results of the Company's November Impressionist and Modern Art sales fell below pre-sale expectations. Nevertheless, demand for great works of art remains high in this category. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements and Item 1A, Risk Factors )

The Company s results from continuing operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 are summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

		Three Months Ended September 30,		Favorable/(Unfavorable)			
	_	2007		2006	\$	Change	% Change
Revenues:							
Auction and related revenues	\$	66,359	\$	50,830	\$	15,529	30.6%
Finance revenues		4,029		4,347		(318)	(7.3%)
Dealer revenues		13,442		920		12,522	*
License fee revenues		920		961		(41)	(4.3%)
Other revenues		308		322		(14)	(4.3%)
Total revenues		85,058		57,380		27,678	48.2%
Expenses		121,070		95,603		(25,467)	(26.6%)
Operating loss	_	(36,012)		(38,223)		2,211	5.8%
Net interest expense		(3,263)		(6,986)		3,723	53.3%
Other income (expense)	_	666		(1,471)		2,137	*
Loss from continuing operations before taxes		(38,609)		(46,680)		8,071	17.3%
Equity in earnings of investees, net of taxes		640		151		489	*
Income tax benefit		(17,021)		(16,104)		917	5.7%
Loss from continuing operations	\$	(20,948)	\$	(30,425)	\$	9,477	31.1%
Key performance indicators:							
Aggregate Auction Sales (a)	\$	328,000	\$	229,833	\$	98,167	42.7%
Net Auction Sales (b)	\$	276,418	\$	195,462	\$	80,956	41.4%
Private Sales (c)	\$	200,116	\$	34,206	\$	165,910	*
Auction commission margin (d)		20.6%		21.1%		N/A	(2.4%)
Average loan portfolio (e)	\$	157,974	\$	159,646	(\$	1,672)	(1.0%)
		Nine Months Ended September 30,			Favorable/(Unfavorable)		
		2007		2006	\$	Change	% Change
Revenues:							
Auction and related revenues	\$		\$	383,200	\$	126,453	33.0%
Finance revenues		13,028		11,329		1,699	15.0%
Dealer revenues		45,784		3,785		41,999	*
License fee revenues		2,323		2,153		170	7.9%
Other revenues	_	1,177	_	1,227	_	(50)	(4.1%)
Total revenues		571,965		401,694		170,271	42.4%
Expenses **		437,773		319,927		(117,846)	(36.8%)
Operating income		134,192		81,767		52,425	64.1%
Net interest expense		(11,236)		(22,258)		11,022	49.5%
Insurance recovery		20,000				20,000	N/A
Other income (expense)		2,397		(2,041)		4,438	*

Income from continuing operations before taxes	145,353	57,468	87,885	*
Equity in earnings of investees, net of taxes	2,389	660	1,729	*
Income tax expense	37,007	20,110	(16,897)	(84.0%)
Income from continuing operations	\$ 110,735	\$ 38,018	\$ 72,717	*
Key performance indicators:				
Aggregate Auction Sales (a)	\$ 3,202,787	\$ 2,222,281	\$ 980,506	44.1%
Net Auction Sales (b)	\$ 2,750,361	\$ 1,920,045	\$ 830,316	43.2%
Private Sales (c)	\$ 528,682	\$ 267,738	\$ 260,944	97.5%
Auction commission margin (d)	16.6%	17.1%	N/A	(2.9%)
Average loan portfolio (e)	\$ 173,678	\$ 150,733	\$ 22,945	15.2%
	28			

### Legend:

- \* Represents a change in excess of 100%.
- \*\* Includes an impairment loss of \$15 million related to NMP goodwill and intangible assets and a \$4.8 million gain on the sale of land and buildings, both of which were recorded in the first quarter of 2007.
- (a) Represents the hammer (sale) price of property sold at auction plus buyer s premium.
- (b) Represents the hammer (sale) price of property sold at auction.
- (c) Represents the total purchase price of property sold in private sales brokered by the Company s Auction segment.
- (d) Represents total auction commission revenues as a percentage of Net Auction Sales.
- (e) Represents the average loan portfolio of the Company s Finance segment.

Please see below for a more detailed discussion of the significant factors impacting the Company s results from continuing operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007.

#### **Impact of Foreign Currency Translations**

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, foreign currency translations had a net favorable impact of approximately \$1.2 million and \$7.9 million, respectively, on the Company s (loss) income from continuing operations before taxes. The components of this favorable impact were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

For the three months ended September 30, 2007		Favorable / (Unfavorable)		
Total revenues		\$	5,607	
Total expenses			(4,534)	
Operating income			1,073	
Net interest expense and other			149	
Impact of foreign currency translations on				
Loss from continuing operations before taxes		\$	1,222	
For the nine months ended September 30, 2007			vorable / avorable)	
Total revenues		\$	25,269	
Total expenses			(17,478)	
Operating income			7,791	
Net interest expense and other			153	
Impact of foreign currency translations on Income from continuing operations before taxes		\$	7,944	
<u> </u>	29			

Revenues

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, revenues consist of the following (in thousands of dollars):

	Three Mon Septemb		Favorable/(U	nfavorable)
	2007	2006	\$ Change	% Change
Auction and related revenues:				
Auction commission revenues	\$ 56,982	\$ 41,178	\$ 15,804	38.4%
Auction expense recoveries	2,080	2,291	(211)	(9.2%)
Private sale commissions **	17,956	3,082	14,874	*
Principal activities **	(14,849)	343	(15,192)	*
Catalogue subscription revenues	1,921	2,124	(203)	(9.6%)
Other	2,269	1,812	457	25.2%
Total auction and related revenues	66,359	50,830	15,529	30.6%
Other revenues:				
Finance revenues	4,029	4,347	(318)	(7.3%)
Dealer revenues **	13,442	920	12,522	*
License fee revenues	920	961	(41)	(4.3%)
Other	308	322	(14)	(4.3%)
Total other revenues	18,699	6,550	12,149	*
Total revenues	\$ 85,058	\$ 57,380	\$ 27,678	48.2%
	Nine Mont Septeml		Favorable/(U	nfavorable)
	2007	2006	\$ Change	% Change
Auction and related revenues:				
Auction commission revenues	\$ 457,527	\$ 328,003	\$ 129,524	39.5%
Auction expense recoveries	11,426	10,697	729	6.8%
Private sale commissions **	42,715	20,264	22,451	*
Principal activities **	(14,583)	9,856	(24,439)	*
Catalogue subscription revenues	6,107	6,392	(285)	(4.5%)
Other	6,461	7,988	(1,527)	(19.1%)
Total auction and related revenues	509,653	383,200	126,453	33.0%
Other revenues:				
	13.028	11.329	1.699	15.0%
Finance revenues Dealer revenues **	13,028 45,784	11,329 3,785	1,699 41,999	15.0%
Finance revenues	13,028 45,784 2,323	11,329 3,785 2,153	1,699 41,999 170	
Finance revenues Dealer revenues **	45,784	3,785	41,999	*

Total other revenues	62,312	18,494	43,818	*
Total revenues	\$ 571,965	\$ 401,694	\$ 170,271	42.4%

### Legend:

<sup>\*</sup> Represents a change in excess of 100%.

<sup>\*\*</sup> In the fourth quarter of 2006, due to the acquisition of NMP (see Acquisition below) and the resulting increase in the Company s Dealer activities, certain activities which were previously reported as part of the Auction segment were realigned with NMP and aggregated into a newly established Dealer segment. Such activities principally include:

The investment in and resale of art and other collectibles directly by the Company.

The investment in art through unsecured loans made by the Company to unaffiliated art dealers. (See Note 5 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

The activities of certain equity investees, including Acquavella Modern Art. (See Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

The purchase and resale of art and the brokering of private sale transactions through an art dealer whose results are required to be consolidated with the Company s results under generally accepted accounting principles. The Company has no equity investment in this entity. (See Note 17 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

Accordingly, revenues related to such activities, which for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, were classified as principal activities and private sale commissions within Auction and Related Revenues, are now reported as Dealer Revenues for all periods presented.

See discussion below for an explanation of the significant factors contributing to the overall increase in revenues, which should be read with reference to the table directly above.

#### **Auction and Related Revenues**

For the three months ended September 30, 2007, auction and related revenues increased \$15.5 million, or 31%, when compared to the prior year. This increase is principally due to increased auction commission revenues and significantly higher private sale commissions, partially offset by lower principal activities. For the three months ended September 30, 2007, auction and related revenues were favorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$4.7 million to the overall increase. Each of the significant factors impacting the increase in auction and related revenues is explained in more detail below.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, auction and related revenues increased \$126.5 million, or 33%, when compared to the prior year. This increase is principally due to increased auction commission revenues, and, to a much lesser extent, a higher level of private sale commissions, partially offset by lower principal activities. For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, auction and related revenues were favorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$22.1 million to the overall increase. Each of the significant factors impacting the increase in auction and related revenues is explained in more detail below.

Auction Commission Revenues For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, auction commission revenues increased \$15.8 million, or 38%, and \$129.5 million, or 40%, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year principally due to an increase in Net Auction Sales, partially offset by a slight decrease in auction commission margin. (See Net Auction Sales and Auction Commission Margin below for a discussion of these key performance indicators.) For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, auction commission revenues were favorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$3.4 million and \$19.3 million, respectively, to the overall increase.

*Net Auction Sales* For the three months ended September 30, 2007, Net Auction Sales increased \$81 million, or 41%, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During the period, Net Auction Sales were favorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed approximately \$17.5 million to the overall increase. The remainder of the increase is attributable to the following factors:

A \$17.2 million, or 112%, improvement in results from the Chinese Contemporary Art sale held in September in New York. The exceptional results from this sale are indicative of the market growth and strength of this collecting category.

A \$12.6 million, or 72%, increase in single-owner sales, principally due to Net Auction Sales attributable to the Guy and Myriam Collection of Important Turner Watercolours for \$23.1 million, for which there was no comparable single-owner sale in the prior period.

A \$4.8 million, or 9%, increase in results from the July Old Master Paintings sales in London.

Third quarter Net Auction Sales are also favorably impacted by the timing of certain sales conducted primarily in London. Specifically, results for the third quarter of 2007 include approximately \$23.5 million in Net Auction Sales of 20<sup>th</sup> Century British Art and Victorian and Edwardian Art. In 2006, the comparable auctions for these collecting categories were held in the second quarter.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, Net Auction Sales increased \$830.3 million, or 43%, to \$2.8 billion, when compared to the prior period. During the period, Net Auction Sales were favorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed approximately \$108.5 million to the overall increase. The remainder of the increase is primarily due to the following factors:

A \$394 million, or 49%, improvement in results from the winter and spring Impressionist and Contemporary Art sales conducted in New York and London. The significant improvement in these results is indicative of the strength of these fine arts markets during the period, as works sold at a significantly higher average selling price than in the prior period.

A \$63 million, or 60%, increase in year-to-date single-owner sales.

A \$47 million, or 57%, increase in Asian art sales in New York, reflecting the continued market growth especially in Chinese Contemporary Art.

A \$37 million increase in the spring Antiquities sale in New York, which in 2007 included the record sale of a bronze figure of *Artemis and the Stag* for \$25.5 million, for which there was no comparably priced offering in the equivalent sale in the prior period.

A \$36 million, or 23%, increase in sales of Old Master Paintings and Drawings, highlighted by the sale of Rembrandt s *Saint James the Greater* for \$23 million in New York in January 2007, for which there was no comparably priced painting sold in the prior period in this collecting category.

A \$35 million, or 33%, increase in various-owner sales in Asia, which includes sales conducted in Hong Kong, Singapore and Australia.

A \$30 million, or 68%, increase in sales of 19th Century European Paintings in Europe.

Auction Commission Margin Auction commission margin represents total auction commission revenues as a percentage of Net Auction Sales. Typically, auction commission margins are higher for lower value works of art or collections, while higher valued property earns lower margins. In certain limited situations, auction commission margins are adversely impacted by arrangements whereby auction commissions are shared with the consignor or with the Company s partners in auction guarantees. In certain of these instances, the Company may share auction commissions with the consignor as part of an auction guarantee, typically in exchange for a portion of the hammer price in excess of a negotiated amount. Auction commissions are occasionally shared with auction guarantee partners as a result of management s decision to reduce auction risk through sharing arrangements with such partners, whereby the Company reduces its financial exposure under an auction guarantee in exchange for sharing the auction commission.

Effective January 12, 2007, the Company increased its buyer s premium charged on certain auction sales. In salesrooms in the U.S., the buyer s premium was 20% on the first \$500,000 of the hammer (sale) price and 12% of any remaining amount over \$500,000. In foreign salesrooms, these U.S. dollar thresholds were generally translated into an appropriate fixed local currency amount. Previously, and for 2006 auction sales, the buyer s premium charged on auction sales was generally 20% of the hammer price on the first \$200,000 and 12% of any remaining amount over \$200,000.

Effective September 1, 2007, the Company again increased its buyer s premium charged on certain auction sales. In salesrooms in the U.S., the buyer s premium is now 25% of the hammer (sale) price on the first \$20,000, 20% of the hammer (sale) price above \$20,000 up to and including \$500,000 and 12% of any remaining amount over \$500,000. In foreign salesrooms, with certain exceptions, these U.S. dollar thresholds have been translated into an appropriate fixed local currency amount.

As detailed in the chart above under Key Performance Indicators, for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, the Company experienced a slight decrease in auction commission margin when compared to the same period in the prior year. The year-to-date comparison of auction commission margin to the prior year is influenced by the following factors:

A change in sales mix, as a more significant portion of Net Auction Sales in the first half of 2007 was at the high-end of the Company s business where auction commission margins are traditionally lower.

The favorable impact of increases to the buyer s premium rate structure which became effective in January and September 2007, and which largely offset the impact of the change in sales mix discussed above.

Principal Activities Auction segment principal activities consist mainly of income or loss related to auction guarantees and gains or losses related to the sale of Auction segment inventory, as well as any decreases in the carrying value of such inventory. Auction segment inventory consists principally of objects obtained as a result of the failure of guaranteed property to sell at auction, and to a much lesser extent, objects obtained incidental to the auction process, primarily as a result of defaults by purchasers after the consignor has been paid, and the honoring of purchasers claims.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, principal activities decreased \$15.2 million and \$24.4 million, respectively, when compared to the prior year. Although property sold under auction guarantees contributed to the significant increase in auction commission revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2007, this increase was partially offset by \$14.6 million of losses incurred in the third quarter of 2007 related to certain works sold under auction guarantees in the November 2007 Impressionist and Modern Art sale. These losses are reflected in the Company s third quarter results as the related auction guarantees were outstanding as of September 30, 2007. Additionally, the comparison to the prior period is unfavorably impacted by \$9 million in principal activity revenue related to auction guarantees recorded in the second quarter of 2006 as a result of the Company sharing in a significant portion of the hammer price on a guaranteed property sold at auction in that period. As discussed above, in certain situations, the Company may share auction commissions with the consignor as part of an auction guarantee in exchange for a portion of the hammer price. As a result, in periods impacted by such arrangements, such as the current and prior year periods, auction commission revenues are best reviewed in the aggregate with principal activities to fully understand auction and related revenues for the period.

Private Sale Commissions The level of private sale commissions earned by the Company can vary significantly from period to period. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, private sales commissions increased \$14.9 million and \$22.5 million, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. These significant increases were largely due to the landmark private sale of the Rostropovich-Vishnevskaya Collection of Russian Art in September 2007, which was originally scheduled to be sold at auction in September 2007 and for which there was no comparable individual private sale in the prior period, as well as management s continued commitment to pursue private sale opportunities in the currently strong international art market.

#### **Finance Revenues**

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, Finance revenues increased \$1.7 million, or 15%, when compared to the prior year. This increase principally results from a 15% increase in the year-to-date average loan portfolio balance (from \$150.7 million to \$173.7 million) and higher interest rates earned on the loan portfolio.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, Finance segment revenues include \$3.4 million and \$4 million, respectively, related to \$58.6 million of term loans made to one borrower during 2005 and 2006. A significant portion of these loans was repaid in the second quarter of 2007, and the Company expects the remaining balance to be repaid in the fourth quarter of 2007.

#### **Dealer Revenues**

Dealer Revenues consist of revenues earned from the sale of Dealer segment inventory and the Company s share of gains resulting from the sale of property purchased by art dealers through unsecured loans from the Company. Dealer inventory consists principally of property held by NMP and objects purchased for investment purposes.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, Dealer revenues increased \$12.5 million and \$42 million, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year, due to incremental revenues contributed by NMP, which was acquired by the Company in June 2006 (see Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements), and revenues associated with the sale of several significant investment properties through the Company s other Dealer activities for which there were no comparable sales in the prior year. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, Dealer revenues of \$13.4 million and \$45.8 million are partially offset by Dealer cost of sales of \$8.6 million and \$34.1 million, respectively.

Robert Noortman, Managing Director of NMP, died unexpectedly on January 14, 2007. NMP is continuing under the leadership of Mr. Noortman s son, William Noortman. (See Acquisition below and Note 3 of Notes to

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements, for more discussion of the acquisition and the impact of Mr. Noortman s death.)

#### **Expenses**

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, expenses consist of the following (in thousands of dollars):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Fa	Favorable / (Unfavorable)			
	2007		2006		\$ Change		% Change	
Direct costs of services	\$	11,255	\$	9,793	(\$	1,462)	(14.9%)	
Dealer cost of sales		8,594		567		(8,027)	*	
Salaries and related costs		55,229		45,709		(9,520)	(20.8%)	
General and administrative expenses		40,492		34,162		(6,330)	(18.5%)	
Depreciation and amortization expense		5,500		5,372		(128)	(2.4%)	
Total expenses	\$	121,070	\$	95,603	(\$	25,467)	(26.6%)	
	_	Nine Mon Septem		30,		avorable / (U	<u> </u>	
	_	2007		2006		Change	% Change	
Direct costs of services	\$	58,721	\$	45,904	(\$	12,817)	(27.9%)	
Dealer cost of sales		34,126		567		(33,559)	*	
Salaries and related costs		195,122		160,051		(35,071)	(21.9%)	
General and administrative expenses		123,282		97,370		(25,912)	(26.6%)	
Depreciation and amortization expense		16,295		16,035		(260)	(1.6%)	
Impairment loss		14,979				(14,979)	N/A	
Gain on sale of land and buildings		(4,752)				4,752	N/A	
Total expenses	\$	437,773	\$	319,927	(\$	117,846)	(36.8%)	

### Legend:

#### \* Represents a change in excess of 100%.

### **Direct Costs of Services**

Direct costs of services consists largely of auction catalogue production and distribution costs, as well as sale marketing costs and corporate marketing expenses. The level of direct costs incurred in any period is generally dependent upon the volume and composition of the Company s auction offerings. For example, direct costs attributable to single-owner or other high-value collections are typically higher than those associated with standard various-owner sales, mainly due to higher promotional costs for catalogues, special events and traveling exhibitions, as well as higher shipping expenses.

For the three months ended September 30, 2007, direct costs of services increased \$1.5 million, or 15%, when compared to the prior year. The increased level of direct costs is consistent with the higher level of Private Sales and Net Auction Sales during the period, and, in particular, reflects the Company s increased promotional efforts in the U.K. related to its Private Sales activities. Also contributing to the increase are higher corporate marketing expenses associated with strategic client service initiatives. The overall increase in direct costs of services during the period is partially offset by lower selling costs related to the Company s Olympia salesroom in London, where it discontinued regular auctions in July 2007 (see Strategic Initiatives below).

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, direct costs of services increased \$12.8 million, or 28%. This increased level of direct costs is consistent with the level and composition of the Company s auction offerings and private sales during the period. In particular, there were

higher catalogue and sale promotion costs, as well as higher shipping costs for property sold in the very successful New York and London Impressionist and Contemporary sales during the period, in addition to the third quarter private sale expenses noted above. Also, direct costs for single-owner sales

increased approximately \$2.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, when compared to the prior year. This is consistent with the higher level of single-owner sales during the period. Also contributing to the increase in direct costs are higher corporate marketing expenses principally resulting from special promotional events held in new and expanding markets, as well as costs associated with the launch of Sotheby s World Elite and World MasterCard® program and the launch of mySothebys, the Company s new client website portal, for which there were no comparable expenditures in the prior period.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, direct costs of services were unfavorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$0.6 million and \$2.7 million, respectively, to the overall increase in direct costs of services.

#### Salaries and Related Costs

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, salaries and related costs consist of the following (in thousands of dollars):

		Three Months Ended September 30,			Fa	Favorable / (Unfavorable)			
	_	2007		2006 \$ C		Change	% Change		
Full-time salaries	\$	31,186	\$	27,947	(\$	3,239)	(11.6%)		
Employee benefits	·	8,523	·	5,992		(2,531)	(42.2%)		
Payroll taxes		3,763		3,516		(247)	(7.0%)		
Incentive bonus costs		1,603		528		(1,075)	*		
Stock compensation expense		6,554		4,246		(2,308)	(54.4%)		
Option Exchange		216		505		289	57.2%		
Other **		3,384		2,975		(409)	(13.7%)		
Total salaries and related costs	\$	55,229	\$	45,709	(\$	9,520)	(20.8%)		
		Nine Mon Septen			Fa	vorable / (U	nfavorable)		
	_	2007		2006	\$ (	Change	% Change		
P. II.	¢.	02 (45	Φ	01 412	<b>(t</b>	11 222)	(12.96/)		
Full-time salaries	\$	92,645 27,381	\$	81,412 19,539	(\$	11,233)	(13.8%)		
Employee benefits Payroll taxes		13,952		19,339		(7,842) (2,005)	(40.1%) (16.8%)		
Incentive bonus costs		30,022		26,409		(3,613)	(13.7%)		
Stock compensation expense		19.284		9,223		(10,061)	(13.770)		
Option Exchange		952		1,981		1,029			
Other **				1,201			51.0%		
Other ***		10,886		9,540		(1,346)	51.9% (14.1%)		

### Legend:

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, salaries and related costs increased \$9.5 million, or 21%, and \$35.1 million, or 22%, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. These increases were principally due to higher levels of full-time salaries, stock compensation costs, employee benefit costs and incentive bonus costs. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, salaries and

Represents a change in excess of 100%.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Principally includes the cost of temporary labor and overtime.

related costs were unfavorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$2 million and \$7.3 million, respectively, to the overall increase. See discussion below for an explanation of the significant factors contributing to the overall increase in salaries and related costs.

Full-Time Salaries For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, full-time salaries increased \$3.2 million, or 12%, and \$11.2 million, or 14%, when compared to the same periods in the prior year, principally due to

strategic headcount additions, as well as limited salary increases to existing employees. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, full-time salaries were unfavorably impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which contributed \$1.2 million and \$3.9 million, respectively, to the overall increase.

Stock Compensation Expense For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, stock compensation expense (excluding costs related to the Option Exchange) increased \$2.3 million and \$10.1 million, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. These increases are principally attributable to incremental costs related to restricted stock awarded in February 2007, as well as stock compensation costs resulting from compensation arrangements with certain senior executives consummated in the second and third quarters of 2006.

For the year ending December 31, 2007, stock compensation expense is expected to increase approximately \$13 million when compared to 2006 to a total of approximately \$26 million principally due to the February 2007 restricted stock grants. A portion of the total expected stock compensation expense for 2007 (\$5.6 million) is related to shares of restricted stock granted in 2006 to certain senior executives that will only vest for the recipients at the end of a minimum employment period and only if certain objective performance or market-based criteria are met. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

Employee Benefit Costs Employee benefits include the cost of the Company s retirement plans and its health and welfare programs, as well as employee severance costs. The Company s material retirement plans include a defined benefit pension plan covering most of its U.K. employees and defined contribution and deferred compensation plans for its U.S. employees. Generally, the level of employee benefit costs is dependent upon movements in headcount and compensation levels, as well as the Company s financial performance. Additionally, expenses related to the Company s U.K. defined benefit pension plan (the U.K. Pension Plan ) are significantly influenced by interest rates and investment performance in the debt and equity markets.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, employee benefit costs increased \$2.5 million, or 42%, and \$7.8 million, or 40%, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. These increases are primarily the result of:

Increased costs related to the Company s U.K. Pension Plan (see discussion below and Note 10 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ).

A \$1.1 million increase in employee severance costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 principally related to strategic initiatives committed to in the first quarter of 2007 that are resulting in staff reductions in certain lower end sales categories in New York, London and Amsterdam (see Strategic Initiatives below).

Incremental costs of \$0.7 million and \$1.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, respectively, related to the Company s new U.S. deferred compensation plan. Such costs are the result of net gains in deemed participant investments during the periods and are more than offset by net gains resulting from the increase in the fair value of the trust assets related to the deferred compensation plan. Such offsetting gains are recorded within Other Income (Expense) in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements. (See Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements, for additional information related to the deferred compensation plan.)

The impact of the headcount and salary increases discussed above.

Increases of approximately \$0.3 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, as a result of movements in foreign currency exchange rates.

As disclosed in the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, accumulated actuarial losses related to the U.K. Pension Plan were approximately \$91 million (\$63.7 million, after tax) as of the date of the most recent plan actuarial valuation (September 30, 2006). These losses accumulated over several years as a result of differences in actual experience compared to projected experience and were specifically influenced by a general trend of lower discount rates, driven by the U.K. interest rate environment, as well as the adoption of updated mortality tables reflecting more recent data on longer life expectancies. These losses, which are reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets on an after-tax basis within accumulated other comprehensive loss until recognized in net pension cost, are being systematically recognized as an increase in future net pension cost in accordance with SFAS No. 87,

Employers Accounting for Pensions and SFAS No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). For the year ending December 31, 2007, management projects an increase of approximately \$4.7 million in costs related to the U.K. Pension Plan, principally due to higher amortization of such unrecognized losses, as well as higher interest costs resulting from an increase in the projected benefit obligation and movements in foreign currency exchange rates. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

*Incentive Bonus Costs* For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, incentive bonus costs increased \$1.1 million, or 204%, and \$3.6 million, or 14%, principally due to an increase in performance-based compensation awarded in connection with the higher level of private sale commissions earned in the periods and the Company's strong financial performance through the first nine months of 2007.

#### **General and Administrative Expenses**

For the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2007, general and administrative expenses increased \$6.3 million, or 19%, and \$25.9 million, or 27%, respectively, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. During these periods, general and administrative expenses increased approximately \$1.3 million and \$4.5 million, respectively, as a result of movements in foreign currency exchange rates. The remainder of the overall increase is largely attributable to the following factors:

Increases of \$2.2 million, or 22%, and \$11.3 million, or 43%, respectively, in professional fees, due in part to third quarter and year-to-date costs of \$1.1 million and \$3.3 million associated with the Company s ongoing assessment of its rights and options with respect to the York Property (see Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ), for which there were no comparable costs in the prior periods. Also contributing to the increase in professional fees are approximately \$2.2 million in year-to-date tax staffing support fees, \$1.7 million in year-to-date costs associated with the Company s outsourced catalogue production operations, and higher consulting and legal fees, partially in support of various strategic initiatives.

Increases of \$1 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, in client goodwill gestures, authenticity claims, litigation costs and other related charges.

Increases of \$1.1 million, or 21%, and \$3.7 million, or 23%, respectively, in travel and entertainment costs principally due to the higher level of travel for pursuing business opportunities during the period. Also contributing to the increase in travel and entertainment costs during the period are price increases for airfares and other travel costs.

A \$1 million year-to-date increase in facilities and office related expenses.

\$1 million in incremental year-to-date general and administrative costs incurred related to NMP, which was acquired in June 2006.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, the comparison of general and administrative expenses to the prior period is also unfavorably impacted by a one-time benefit recorded in the second quarter of 2006 associated with the recovery of \$2.2 million in administrative expenses related to the settlement of the International Antitrust Litigation, for which there was no comparable event in the current period. The unfavorable impact of this recovery on the comparison to the prior year was partially offset by a \$0.7 million expense recorded in the first half of 2006 related to the settlement of an investigation by the Canadian Competition Bureau, as well as a decrease of \$0.6 million in other runoff professional fees related to antitrust matters.

### **Impairment Loss and Insurance Recovery**

On June 7, 2006, the Company acquired Noortman Master Paintings, B.V., a pre-eminent art dealer. (See Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements, for more detailed information related to this acquisition.) Robert C. Noortman, who was the Managing Director of NMP, died unexpectedly on January 14, 2007. NMP is continuing under the leadership of Mr. Noortman s son, William Noortman.

As a result of Mr. Noortman s death, in the first quarter of 2007, the Company recorded an impairment loss of approximately \$15 million in the Dealer segment related to NMP s goodwill (\$7.3 million), customer relationships (\$6 million) and trade name (\$0.8 million), as well as Mr. Noortman s non-compete agreement (\$0.9 million). (See Notes 6 and 7 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

Also as a result of Mr. Noortman s death, the Company became entitled to a \$20 million death benefit under a key man life insurance policy that the Company had purchased in conjunction with the acquisition of NMP. Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2007, the Company recognized a \$20 million insurance recovery in its Condensed Consolidated Income Statement within non-operating income. The Company collected this amount in April 2007.

#### Gain on Sale of Land and Buildings

In March 2007, the Company completed the sale of land and buildings at Billingshurst, West Sussex, which previously housed a U.K. auction salesroom. As a result of this sale, the Company recognized a gain of \$4.8 million in the first quarter of 2007, for which there was no comparable transaction or gain in the prior period.

### **Net Interest Expense**

Due to the substantial improvement in the Company's operating results, there were significantly higher average cash balances and short-term investments and a lower level of outstanding revolving credit facility borrowings during the first nine months of 2007, when compared to the same period in the prior year. As a result, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, net interest expense decreased \$3.7 million, or 53%, and \$11 million, or 50%, when compared to the same periods in the prior year. These increases include quarter and year-to-date increases in interest income of \$2.4 million and \$7.5 million, respectively, and quarter and year-to-date decreases in interest expense of \$1.3 million and \$3.6 million, respectively. (See Liquidity and Capital Resources below and Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

#### Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

The effective tax rate related to continuing operations was approximately 25% for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, compared to approximately 35% for the same period in 2006. This decrease is attributable to several factors including the fact that an increased portion of the Company s income was earned in lower-taxed territories including the U.K., as well as the fact that the \$20 million in insurance proceeds from the key man life insurance policy covering Robert C. Noortman (see Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ) are non-taxable. The benefit attributable to the key man life insurance proceeds was partially offset by a \$15 million impairment loss related to Noortman Master Paintings (see Notes 3, 6 and 7 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ), which is not tax deductible.

In the second quarter of 2007, as part of the Company s ongoing evaluation of the utilization of state, federal and foreign operating losses, it was determined that it was more likely than not that its state deferred tax assets could be utilized and hence the valuation allowance established against state operating losses and other deferred tax assets in prior years was reduced to zero, and a \$3.5 million income tax benefit was recorded in the second quarter of 2007. In assessing the need for the valuation allowance, management considered, among other things, its projections of future taxable income and ongoing, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

The effective tax benefit rate related to continuing operations for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 was approximately 44%, compared to approximately 34.5% for the same period in 2006. This increase is due in part to an additional income tax benefit of approximately \$2 million related to the Company s assessment of its valuation allowance for state deferred tax assets which has been revised consistent with changes to Company forecasts and estimates. In addition, the effective tax benefit rate related to continuing operations for the third quarter of 2007 is impacted by an incremental net income tax benefit of \$2.2 million related to the correction of immaterial prior period errors. These errors principally relate to the Company s calculation of its valuation allowance for state deferred tax assets in the second quarter of 2007; the impact of which is partially offset by an increase in the liability for unrecorded foreign tax benefits arising in periods prior to 2007. The overall increase in the effective tax benefit rate for the period is partially offset by a change in the enacted statutory tax rates in the U.K. and Germany.

#### **Discontinued Operations**

For information related to Discontinued Operations, see Note 19 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.

### FINANCIAL CONDITION AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2007

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (see Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ).

For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, total cash and cash equivalents decreased approximately \$100 million primarily due to the factors discussed below.

Cash Used by Operating Activities Net cash used by operating activities of \$234.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 is principally attributable to the following factors:

A \$258.3 million net decrease in amounts owed to clients principally due to the timing and settlement of auction and private sales. This net decrease includes a \$37.4 million client receivable related to a private sale that is included in other non-current assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 5 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ).

A \$64.2 million net increase in inventory principally due to the acquisition of property relating to auction guarantees that did not sell at auction during the first half of 2007, as well as investments in property made by the Company s Dealer segment in the third quarter of 2007, partially offset by sales of Dealer inventory.

The purchase of \$29.7 million in assets held in a rabbi trust to fund the liability related to the Sotheby s Deferred Compensation Plan (see Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements).

Partially offsetting these cash outflows from operations was net income of \$110.7 million earned during the nine months ended September 30, 2007.

Cash Used by Investing Activities Net cash provided by investing activities of \$125.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 is principally due to a \$126 million net decrease in short-term investments, \$6.2 million in proceeds received from the sale of land and buildings in the U.K., \$5.7 million in distributions from equity investees and a \$5.7 million decrease in restricted cash. These investing cash inflows are minimally offset by \$11.6 million in capital expenditures and \$4.6 million in cash outflows due to the net funding of client loans.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing activities of \$5.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 is principally due to \$16.1 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and \$14.1 million in excess tax benefits resulting from stock option exercises and the vesting of restricted stock in the first nine months of 2007. These financing cash inflows are partially offset by \$23.2 million in dividend payments.

### **SHARES OUTSTANDING**

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 increased by approximately 4 million shares, or 7%, when compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily as a result of the impact of employee stock option exercises since the beginning of 2006, which has resulted in the issuance of approximately 5 million additional shares of the Company s Common Stock, the issuance of 1.9 million shares in conjunction with the acquisition of NMP in June 2006 and the impact of restricted stock issuances to employees over the last year. As a result of these events, management expects weighted average diluted shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2007 to be in the range of approximately 65.6 million. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

#### **CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS**

The following table summarizes the Company s material contractual obligations and commitments as of September 30, 2007:

#### Payments Due by Period

	 Total	 ess Than ne Year	11	to 3 Years	3 t	o 5 Years	 After 5 Years
		(T	housa	ands of dolla	ırs)		
Long-term debt (1)							
Principal payments	\$ 100,000	\$	\$	100,000	\$		\$
Interest payments	9,740	6,875		2,865			
Sub-total	109,740	6,875		102,865			
Other commitments:							
York Property capital lease	355,205	19,287		40,912		42,332	252,674
Operating lease obligations	79,600	15,657		20,960		9,378	33,605
Discount Certificates (2)	24,374	24,374					
Note payable to Arcimboldo (3)	11,800	5,900		5,900			
Employment arrangements (4)	19,292	7,203		9,280		2,809	
Uncertain tax positions (5)	7,800	7,800					
Sub-total	498,071	80,221		77,052	_	54,519	286,279
Total	\$ 607,811	\$ 87,096	\$	179,917	\$	54,519	\$ 286,279

- (1) Represents the aggregate outstanding principal and semi-annual interest payments due on the Company s long-term debt. (See Liquidity and Capital Resources below and Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements, for information related to the Company s credit arrangements.)
- (2) Represents the remaining outstanding face value of the Discount Certificates that were distributed in conjunction with the settlement of certain civil antitrust litigation, which are fully redeemable in connection with any auction that is conducted by the Company or its principal competitor Christie s International, PLC in the U.S. or in the U.K. The Discount Certificates may be used to satisfy consignment charges involving vendor s commission, risk of loss and/or catalogue illustration. The Discount Certificates will expire on May 14, 2008 and cannot be redeemed subsequent to that date; however, any unused Discount Certificates may be redeemed for cash at their face value at any time between May 15, 2007 and May 14, 2008. (See Note 14 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)
- (3) See Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.
- (4) Represents the remaining commitment for future salaries as of September 30, 2007 related to employment arrangements with ten employees, excluding incentive bonuses, any participation in the Company s Executive Bonus Plan and equity grants. (See Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)
- (5) The Company s liability for uncertain tax positions that would be settled by cash payments to the respective taxing authorities is \$14.4 million, of which \$7.8 million is classified as current and \$6.6 million is classified as long-term in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The long-term portion is excluded from the contractual obligations table above as the Company is unable to make reliable estimates of the period of settlement with the respective taxing authorities. (See Uncertain Tax Positions below for more detailed information.)

### OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

#### **Auction Guarantees**

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company will guarantee to consignors a minimum price in connection with the sale of property at auction. The Company must perform under its auction guarantee in the event the property sells for less than the minimum price, in which event the Company must pay the difference between

the sale price at auction and the amount of the auction guarantee. If the property does not sell, the amount of the auction guarantee must be paid, but the Company has the right to recover such amount through future sale of the property. The sale proceeds ultimately realized by the Company, in certain of these instances, may exceed the amount of any prior losses recognized on the auction guarantee. Additionally, the Company is generally entitled to a share of the excess proceeds if the property under the auction guarantee sells above a minimum price. The Company is obligated under the terms of certain guarantees to advance a portion of the guaranteed amount prior to the auction. In certain situations, the Company reduces its financial exposure under auction guarantees through auction sharing arrangements with unaffiliated partners. Partners may also assist the Company in valuing and marketing the property to be sold at auction.

As of September 30, 2007, the Company had outstanding auction guarantees totaling \$463.5 million, the property relating to which had a mid-estimate sales price (1) of \$484.3 million. The Company's financial exposure under these auction guarantees is reduced by \$6.8 million as a result of arrangements with unaffiliated third parties. Substantially all of the property related to such auction guarantees is being offered at auctions in the fourth quarter of 2007 with the remainder of the property to be offered at auctions in the first half of 2008. As of September 30, 2007, \$58.1 million of the guaranteed amount had been advanced by the Company and is recorded within Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (see Note 5 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements. ). As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, the carrying amount of the liability related to the Company's auction guarantees was approximately \$5.4 million, \$1.5 million and \$2.7 million, respectively, and was reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities.

On November 7 and 8, 2007, the Company held its major autumn sales of Impressionist and Modern Art. While these sales were profitable overall, the Company did incur losses on certain auction guarantees that were outstanding as of September 30, 2007 and, as a result, the Company recorded a principal loss of \$14.6 million within Auction and Related Revenues in the third quarter of 2007.

As of November 8, 2007, the Company had outstanding auction guarantees totaling \$282.8 million, the property relating to which had a mid-estimate sales price (1) of \$279 million. The Company s financial exposure under these auction guarantees is reduced by \$46.9 million as a result of arrangements with unaffiliated third parties. Substantially all of the property related to such auction guarantees is being offered at auctions in the fourth quarter of 2007 with the remainder of the property to be offered at auctions in the first half of 2008. As of November 8, 2007, \$88.8 million of the guaranteed amount had been advanced by the Company and will be recorded within Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances.

(1) The mid-estimate sales price is calculated as the average of the low and high pre-sale auction estimates for the property under the auction guarantee. Pre-sale estimates are not always accurate predictions of auction sale results.

#### **Lending Commitments**

In certain situations, the Company enters into legally binding arrangements to lend, primarily on a collateralized basis and subject to certain limitations and conditions, to potential consignors and other individuals who have collections of fine art or other objects. Unfunded commitments to extend additional credit were \$13.1 million at September 30, 2007.

### **DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS**

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to hedge cash flow exposures related to foreign currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany balances and, to a lesser extent, foreign currency denominated client receivable and payable balances, as well as foreign currency denominated auction guarantee obligations. Such forward exchange contracts held by the Company are typically short-term with settlement dates less than one year from their inception. Exposures related to foreign currency risks are centrally managed by the Company s global treasury function. The Company s objective for holding forward exchange contracts is to minimize foreign currency risks using the most effective methods to eliminate or reduce the impacts of these exposures. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended, and are recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value, which is based on referenced market rates. Changes in the fair value of the Company s forward exchange contracts are recognized currently in earnings.

At September 30, 2007, the Company had \$155 million of notional value forward exchange contracts outstanding. Notional amounts do not quantify risk or represent assets or liabilities of the Company, but are used in the calculation of cash settlements under such contracts. The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of

nonperformance by the two counterparties to its forward exchange contracts, but the Company does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations given their high credit ratings.

As of September 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and September 30, 2006, the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included liabilities of \$0.1 million, \$1.1 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, recorded within Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities reflecting the fair value of the Company s outstanding forward exchange contracts on those dates.

#### **CONTINGENCIES**

For information related to Contingencies, see Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.

#### **UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS**

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if there is less than a 50% likelihood of its being sustained. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of the date of adoption was \$16.8 million. Included in this balance are \$12.5 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. Also included in this balance is \$1.5 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred taxes.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a \$1.5 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which were accounted for as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Reduction in Retained Earnings (cumulative effect)	\$ 1,459
Increase in Deferred Tax Assets	\$ 18
Increase in liability for unrecognized tax benefits	\$ 1.477

The Company recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. In addition to the adjustment above, upon the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007, the Company increased its accrual for such interest to \$1.2 million, an increase of \$0.5 million from December 31, 2006. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, the Company increased its accrual for such interest by \$0.4 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, to \$2 million, including the adjustment upon the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007. The Company does not anticipate that it will be subject to penalties.

The Company s policy is to record interest related to sales, value added and other taxes as Interest Expense in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements. Penalties related to such taxes are recorded as General and Administrative Expenses in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements. Interest and penalties related to income taxes are recorded as a component of Income Tax Expense (Benefit) in the Company s Condensed Consolidated Income Statements.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company s tax years that are open for audit for federal purposes and for major state, local and foreign jurisdictions are as follows:

Federal:

1998 to 2006

Major state and local jurisdictions:

New York State: 2004 to 2006

New York City: 1997 to 2006

California: 2002 to 2006 Major foreign jurisdictions:

France: 1999 to 2006

Hong Kong: 1998 to 2006

U.K.: 2003 to 2006

The Company is not aware of any issues that would cause a significant increase or decrease to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months. There are currently ongoing tax audits for U.S. federal and New York City jurisdictions and in France. The Company anticipates that these audits may be completed within the next 12 months.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional tax assessments in the noted jurisdictions and adjusts its reserves as additional information or events require. As a result of our analysis, in the third quarter of 2007, the Company increased its liability for unrecognized tax benefits by \$7.7 million.

### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has a senior secured credit agreement with an international syndicate of lenders arranged by Banc of America Securities LLC (BofA) and LaSalle Bank N.A. (the BofA Credit Agreement). The BofA Credit Agreement originally provided for borrowings of up to \$250 million through a revolving credit facility. In May 2006, the Company amended the BofA Credit Agreement to provide for \$50 million in additional commitments from its existing lenders, thereby increasing the total borrowing capacity to \$300 million. The amendment also permits the amount of available borrowings to be increased by an additional \$50 million to \$350 million. As discussed in more detail below, in July 2007, the BofA Credit Agreement was further amended to enhance the Company s flexibility related to limitations on capital expenditures and dividend payments.

Effective October 1, 2007, BofA acquired LaSalle Bank N.A. from ABN Amro Holding Co. This acquisition will not have any impact related to the BofA Credit Agreement.

The amount of borrowings available at any time under the BofA Credit Agreement is limited to a borrowing base, which is generally equal to 100% of eligible loans (i.e., notes receivable and consignor advances) made by the Company in the U.S. and the United Kingdom (the U.K.) plus 15% of the Company is net tangible assets (calculated as total assets less current liabilities, goodwill, intangible assets, unamortized debt discount and eligible loans). As of September 30, 2007, there were no outstanding borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement, and the amount available for borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement was \$300 million.

The BofA Credit Agreement is available through September 7, 2010; provided that in the event that any of the \$100 million in long-term debt securities (the Notes) issued by the Company in February 1999 are still outstanding on July 1, 2008, then either: (a) the Company shall deposit cash in an amount equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes on such date into an account in the sole control and dominion of BofA for the benefit of the lenders and the holders of the Notes or (b) the Company shall have otherwise demonstrated its ability to redeem and pay in full the Notes; otherwise, the BofA Credit Agreement shall terminate and all amounts outstanding thereunder shall be due and payable in full on July 1, 2008. Management expects to be able to demonstrate its ability to redeem and repay the Notes in full as required. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements and Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements, for more information related to the Notes.) The Company s obligations under the BofA Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the non-real estate assets of the Company, as well as the non-real estate assets of its subsidiaries in the U.S. and the U.K.

The BofA Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring the Company to not exceed a maximum level of capital expenditures (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) and dividend payments (as discussed in more detail below) and to have a quarterly interest coverage ratio (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.0 and a quarterly leverage ratio (as defined in the BofA Credit Agreement) of not more than: (i) 3.5 for quarters ending December 31, 2006 to September 30, 2007 and (ii) 3.0 for quarters ending December 31, 2007 and thereafter.

The maximum level of annual capital expenditures permitted under the BofA Credit Agreement, with certain exceptions as defined in the July 2007 amendment to the BofA Credit Agreement, is \$15 million through 2007 and \$20 million thereafter with any unused amounts carried forward to the following year. Dividend payments made on or before June 30, 2007, were limited to 40% of the Company s net income arising after June 30, 2005 and computed on a cumulative basis. On July 25, 2007, the BofA Credit Agreement was amended so that any dividend payments made on or after that date are limited to 50% of the Company s net income arising after July 1, 2007 and computed on a cumulative basis. Additionally, the amount available for distribution as dividend payments was increased. The BofA Credit Agreement also has certain non-financial covenants and restrictions. The Company is in compliance with its covenants related to the BofA Credit Agreement.

At the option of the Company, any borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement generally bear interest at a rate equal to: (i) LIBOR plus 1.75%, or (ii) 0.5% plus the higher of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the weighted average interest rate charged to the Company on outstanding borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement was approximately 7.1% and 6.9%, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007, the Company had no borrowings under the BofA Credit Agreement.

The Company generally relies on operating cash flows supplemented by borrowings to meet its liquidity requirements. The Company currently believes that operating cash flows, current cash balances and borrowings available under the BofA Credit Agreement will be adequate to meet its presently contemplated or anticipated short-term and long-term commitments, operating needs and capital requirements.

The Company s short-term operating needs and capital requirements include peak seasonal working capital requirements, other short-term commitments to consignors, the funding of notes receivable and consignor advances, the funding of capital expenditures, and the payment of the quarterly dividend discussed below, as well as the short-term commitments to be funded on or before September 30, 2008 included in the table of contractual obligations above.

The Company s long-term operating needs and capital requirements include peak seasonal working capital requirements, the funding of notes receivable and consignor advances, and the funding of capital expenditures, as well as the funding of the Company s presently anticipated long-term contractual obligations and commitments included in the table of contractual obligations above.

### **DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID**

On February 27, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.10 per share (approximately \$6.6 million) that was paid to shareholders of record as of February 28, 2007 on March 15, 2007.

On May 7, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.10 per share (approximately \$6.7 million) that was paid to shareholders of record as of May 31, 2007 on June 15, 2007.

On August 8, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.15 per share (approximately \$10 million) that was paid on September 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of August 31, 2007.

On November 6, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend on its common stock of \$0.15 per share (approximately \$10 million) to be paid on December 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of November 30, 2007.

It is the intention of the Company to continue to pay quarterly dividends at a rate of \$0.15 per share, subject to Board approval and depending on economic, financial, market and other conditions at the time. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

### FUTURE IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the balance sheet recognition provisions of this standard, as well as the related disclosure

requirements, and accordingly recognized the funded status of its defined benefit pension plans in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006. SFAS No. 158 also requires the measurement of defined benefit pension plan assets and obligations as of the effective date of the employer s fiscal year-end balance sheet. The requirement to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date is effective for the Company as of December 31, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting the measurement date provision of SFAS No. 158, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective for financial statements issued by the Company starting in 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 159, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

In June 2007, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 06-11, Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment Awards. EITF No. 06-11 requires the recognition of income tax benefits realized from dividend or dividend equivalents that are charged to retained earnings and paid to employees for unvested employee share-based payment awards as an increase to additional paid-in capital. The provisions of EITF No. 06-11 are effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008. Management is evaluating the impact of adopting EITF No. 06-11, if any, on the Company s financial statements.

#### STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

In recent years, the Company s focus on the high end of the art market has been an important contributor to its success. Accordingly, management has initiated significant organizational changes, including globally reorganizing its management of client relationships and investing in those areas most valued by its major clients. For example, a significant corporate web site enhancement, *mySothebys*, was launched in the second quarter of 2007 that provides clients with real-time access to their account data and balances, as well as information on current and historical transactions, auction tracking services and enhanced media content.

In line with the Company s strategy, in February 2007, management decided to refocus its business portfolio. Accordingly, the Company has discontinued regular auctions at Olympia in London, which traditionally has processed sales at a much lower price point than the rest of the Company. In addition, the Company has been reducing staff in lower end sales categories in New York and Amsterdam. The Company expects these actions, which are guided by local statutory consultation guidelines and which have resulted in severance charges totaling \$1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, to reduce headcount by approximately five percent globally. This strategic initiative will significantly reduce the quantity of lots offered for sale at auction, which is expected to result in cost savings and operating efficiencies. However, the Company is investing a portion of these savings in new staff, in order to better focus on client relationships and grow revenues, which management expects will more than offset the lost revenue on lower end sales categories. Having implemented many of these strategic changes during the first nine months of 2007, the Company is beginning to realize the benefits during the second half of 2007 and expects to realize increasing benefits in future years. Accordingly, there could be an unfavorable impact on short-term operating results. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

#### FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-Q contains certain forward looking statements; as such term is defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, relating to future events and the financial performance of the Company. Such statements are only predictions and involve risks and uncertainties, resulting in the possibility that the actual events or performance will differ materially from such predictions. Major factors which the Company believes could cause the actual results to differ materially from the predicted results in the forward looking statements include, but are not limited to, the factors listed below under Item 1A, Risk Factors, which are not ranked in any particular order.

#### ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company continually evaluates its market risk associated with its financial instruments and forward exchange contracts during the course of its business. The Company s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, notes receivable and consignor advances, trust assets related to the deferred compensation liability, credit facility borrowings (if any), long-term debt, the deferred compensation liability, the note payable to Arcimboldo (see Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ) and the liability for the Discount Certificates issued in connection with the settlement of certain civil antitrust litigation (see Note 14 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements ).

The Company believes that its interest rate risk is minimal as a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in interest rates is immaterial to the Company s cash flow, earnings and fair value related to financial instruments. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

As of September 30, 2007, a hypothetical 10% strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to all other currencies would result in a decrease or increase in cash flow of approximately \$12.9 million.

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to manage exposures related to foreign currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany balances and, to a lesser extent, foreign currency denominated client receivable and payable balances, as well as foreign currency denominated auction guarantee obligations. At September 30, 2007, the Company had \$155 million of notional value forward exchange contracts outstanding. Notional amounts do not quantify risk or represent assets or liabilities of the Company, but are used in the calculation of cash settlements under such contracts. The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by the two counterparties to its forward exchange contracts, but the Company does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations given their high credit ratings. (See Derivative Financial Instruments above and Note 18 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 1, Financial Statements.)

### **ITEM 4: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES**

### **Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

As of September 30, 2007, the Company has carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company s management, including the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) were effective as of September 30, 2007.

#### **Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

There was no change in the Company s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company s most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

### **ITEM 1: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS**

The Company becomes involved, from time to time, in various claims and lawsuits incidental to the ordinary course of its business. Management does not believe that the outcome of any of these pending claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

#### **ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS**

Operating results for the Company, as well as the Company s liquidity, are significantly influenced by a number of risk factors, many of which are not within the Company s control. These factors, which are not ranked in any particular order, include:

### The overall strength of the international economy and financial markets

The art market in which the Company operates is influenced over time by the overall strength of the international economy and financial markets, although this correlation may not be immediately evident in the short-term. The Company s business can be particularly influenced by the economies of the U.S., the U.K., and the major countries or territories of Continental Europe and Asia (principally China and Japan).

#### Interest rates

Fluctuations in interest rates influence the Company s cost of funds for borrowings under its credit facility that may be required to finance working capital needs and, in particular, the Finance segment s client loan portfolio.

### Government laws and regulations

Many of the Company s activities are subject to laws and regulations including, but not limited to, import and export regulations, cultural property ownership laws, data protection and privacy laws, anti-money laundering laws, antitrust laws and value added sales taxes. In addition, the Company is subject to local auction regulations, such as New York City Auction Regulations Subchapter M of Title 6 §§ 2-121 2-125, et. seq. Such regulations do not impose a material impediment to the worldwide business of the Company but do affect the market generally, and a material adverse change in such regulations could affect the business. Additionally, export and import laws and cultural property ownership laws could affect the availability of certain kinds of property for sale at the Company s principal auction locations or could increase the cost of moving property to such locations.

### Political conditions and world events

Global political conditions and world events may affect the Company s business through their effect on the economies of various countries, as well as on the decision of buyers and sellers to purchase and sell art in the wake of economic uncertainty. Global political conditions may also influence the enactment of legislation that could adversely affect the Company s business.

### Foreign currency exchange rate movements

The Company has operations throughout the world, with approximately 53% of its revenues coming from outside of the U.S. in 2006. Accordingly, fluctuations in exchange rates can have a significant impact on the Company s results of operations.

#### Seasonality of the Company s auction business

The worldwide art auction market has two principal selling seasons, spring and autumn. The Company s revenues and operating income may be affected as described under Seasonality in Item 2, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

### Competition

Competition in the art market is intense, including competition both with other auctioneers and with art dealers.

#### The amount and quality of property being consigned to art auction houses

The amount and quality of property being consigned to art auction houses is influenced by a number of factors not within the Company s control. Many major consignments, and specifically single-owner sale consignments, often become available as a result of the death or financial or marital difficulties of the owner, all of which are unpredictable. This, plus the ability of the Company to sell such property, can cause auction and related revenues to be highly variable from period to period.

#### The demand for fine arts, decorative arts, and collectibles

The demand for fine arts, decorative arts, and collectibles is influenced not only by overall economic conditions, but also by changing trends in the art market as to which kinds of property and the works of which artists are most sought after and by the collecting preferences of individual collectors, all of which can be unpredictable.

#### Qualified personnel

The Company s business is largely a service business in which the ability of its employees to develop and maintain relationships with potential sellers and buyers of works of art is essential to the Company s success. Moreover, the Company s business is both complex and unique, making it important to retain key specialists and members of management. Accordingly, the Company s business is highly dependent upon its success in attracting and retaining qualified personnel.

#### Demand for art-related financing

The Company s Finance segment is dependent on the demand for art-related financing, which can be significantly influenced by overall economic conditions and by the often unpredictable financial requirements of owners of major art collections.

#### Strategic Initiatives

As discussed in more detail within Strategic Initiatives under Item 2, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, management is undertaking certain strategic initiatives designed to refocus the Company s business portfolio. The Company s future operating results are dependent in part on the success of management in implementing the Company s strategic plans.

### Value of artworks

The art market is not a highly liquid trading market, as a result of which the valuation of artworks is inherently subjective and the realizable value of artworks often varies over time. Accordingly, the Company is at risk with respect to the value of art held as inventory, the value of art subject to auction guarantees and the value of artworks pledged as collateral for Finance segment loans.

#### U.K. Pension Plan

Future costs related to the Company s U.K. defined benefit pension plan are heavily influenced by changes in interest rates, investment performance in the debt and equity markets and actuarial assumptions, all of which are unpredictable. (See Salaries and Related Costs Employee Benefits under Item 2, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.)

### Income taxes

The Company operates in many tax jurisdictions throughout the world. Variations in taxable income in the various jurisdictions in which the Company does business can have a significant impact on its effective tax rate.

### **ITEM 6: EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K**

### (a) Exhibits

- 10.1 Fourth Amendment to the Sotheby s Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 25, 2007
- 10.2 Second Amendment to the Sotheby s Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Plan dated September 7, 2007
- 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

### (b) Reports on Form 8-K

- (i) On August 10, 2007, the Company filed a current report on Form 8-K under Item 2.02, Results of Operations and Financial Condition and Item 9.01, Financial Statements and Exhibits.
- (ii) On August 22, 2007, the Company filed a current report on Form 8-K under Item 2.03, Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant Item 8.01, Other Events.

49

### **SIGNATURE**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

### SOTHEBY S

By: /s/ Kevin M. Delaney

Kevin M. Delaney Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

Date: November 9, 2007

50

## **Exhibit Index**

Exhibit No.	Description
10.1	Fourth Amendment to the Sotheby s Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 25, 2007
10.2	Second Amendment to the Sotheby s Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Plan dated September 7, 2007
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 51